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FROM THE PRESIDENT

The presentation of the Grant of Arms at
Ingatestone Hall on Thursday, 13" May
was a huge success and will surely be
remembered as a significant milestone in
the history of our Society. Your support
was truly magnificent with well in excess
of one hundred members and their
guests attending the occasion at
Ingatestone Hall. Thomas Woodcock
(Garter Principal King of Arms), attired in
magnificent court dress (replete with
sword and medals), duly presented the
Letters Patent to our Patron, Lord Petre.
As previously stated, a colour
reproduction of the impressive Letters
Patent will be reproduced in the
forthcoming issue of the Transactions
(volume 40 for 2009). We do, of course,
owe an enormous debt of gratitude to
Lord Petre and his son, the Hon.
Dominic Petre, for permitting the
presentation to be held at Ingatestone
Hall. I would also like to take this
opportunity to express our gratitude to
the staff, principally Mrs. Gina Cordwell
and Mrs. Carol Delafuente, who could
not have been more helpful. They
contributed significantly to a highly
successful evening. The refreshments
were greatly appreciated and
consistently commended during the
course of the evening. These were
provided by Ann Newman, ably
supported by her husband Ken. The
Newman’s were somewhat concerned
about the task of catering for such a
large gathering but exceeded the
challenge in their inimitable way. These
few words of appreciation inadequately
reflect their outstanding contribution.

A further opportunity to inspect the
Letters Patent was afforded at the
Annual General Meeting held on
Saturday, 19" June in the magnificent
surroundings of the Grade | Listed
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Council Chamber of Braintree Town Hall.
Dr David Andrews provided a highly
engaging talk following the formal
business. David explained that the
building was the gift of William Julien
Courtauld who commissioned Vincent
Harris as the architect with the brief that
“I only want the best”. Charlotte
Andrews, who was responsible for the
visit, subsequently guided the
assembled company around several of
the more interesting rooms to enable the
municipal opulence to be appreciated at
first hand.

The next important date in the Society’s
calendar is the Morant Lunch which this
year will be held on Sunday, 10"
October in the convivial surroundings of
Reeves Restaurant in Felsted. Our guest
speaker on this occasion will be John
Drury, a local historian who was formerly
clerk and chairman of the parish council.
John published a valuable history of the
village in 1999. It is still possible to book
places by contacting Pat Ryan (60
Maldon Road, Danbury, Essex CMS3
4QL). | greatly look forward to your
company.

On Friday, 28" May it was my very sad
duty to represent the Society at the
funeral of Rev William J T Smith (1920-
2010) which took place at Boreham. Mrs
Eleanor Burgess, a member and
parishioner, was also present. Mr Smith,
who joined the Society in 1970, spent his
entire ministry in the Diocese of
Chelmsford where he was curate of
Laindon-cum-Basildon (1956-61), rector
of Stifford (1961-5) and vicar of Boreham
(1965-90). All three churches contain
monumental brasses. He was (with H.G.
Worsley) the author of Brasses:
Thurrock & District (1970). Smith also
published Alse Byng and her Brass in
1991 as part of his Boreham Histories
Series. William Smith genuinely loved



Charity Number 213218

Boreham church and village and wrote
passionately on practically every
historical aspect. | personally feel his
loss acutely having known him since the
age of eight when my aunt lived at Bulls
Lodge and regularly worshipped at the
church. William Smith was buried in the
churchyard in a favoured location
beneath the west window. Rest in
Peace.

The Society also suffered another
significant loss with the passing of
Stephen Ripper of Sible Hedingham
(1926-2010). Mr Ripper was the joint
longest serving member (with our Vice-
President, John Appleby) having joined
the Society in 1947. Ripper was also a
long time member of Sible Hedingham
parish council - serving as Chairman
from 1961-4. He was also a long
standing member of Halstead and
District Local History Society and
enjoyed visiting museums. He took a
keen interest in local and family history
compiling a large archive and
photographic  collection relating to
Rippers Limited, a company founded by
his grandfather and which employed
some seven hundred people at its peak.
It is envisaged that his archive will be
exhibited in the Village Hall at Sible
Hedingham during the course of 2011.
Stephen leaves a widow (Frances), two
daughters (Anne and Catherine) and
grandchildren. He was buried next to a
third daughter (Susan) in the churchyard
at Sible Hedingham on 9™ August. Our
member, Adrian Corder-Birch attended
the funeral to whom | am most grateful
for this brief biography. I am also
delighted to report that his widow wishes
to continue membership of the Society.

Finally, | referred to the unprecedented
levels of public debt in the Spring
newsletter which at the end of February
stood at £741.6 billion (equivalent to
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52.6 per cent of GDP). At the end of July
the debt had risen to an eye-watering
£816.2 billion (equivalent to 56.1 per
cent of GDP). The political landscape
has changed radically over the last six
months. We now brace ourselves for the
public spending review on 20" October.
Many of the services that we cherish are
non-statutory and, thus, are at
considerable potential risk. | warned that
we should remain vigilant. Now | am
urging you to contact Michael Leach, our
energetic Secretary, or myself in cases
where services are threatened. Our
Society has a proud record of making
strong representation in the face of
adversity. | sincerely hope that | am
proved wrong but | fear that we will be
called upon to try and defend what we
value.

H. Martin Stuchfield

AN APOLOGY

We deeply regret that the financial
statement included in the annual report
(which was sent out with the last
Newsletter) contained a number of errors
(year-ending dates) and omissions
(COIF income). We are extremely
grateful to a number of assiduous
members who tactfully pointed out these
various errors. The only good news is
that the overall healthy financial position
of the Society is not altered by these
errors. Corrected financial statements
were circulated at the AGM, and have
been forwarded to the Charity
Commission for the Society’s annual
return. Any member who was not at the
AGM, and who wishes to have a correct
set of accounts, is asked to contact the
Hon Secretary.
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ADVISORY COMMITTEE
FOR ARCHAEOLOGY

The Advisory Committee met on 3
occasions in the year with County
Councillors, archaeologists, museum
curators and representatives  of
Archaeology Societies in attendance.

A visit was made to Wat Tyler Country
Park, Pitsea, where considerable
recreational and educational facilities
have been made available under the
auspices of Thames Gateway scheme,
local councils and RSPB. The Thames
riverside landscape includes preserved
red hills, farmstead sites, animal
enclosures, medieval and post-medieval
field boundaries, river embankments and
dykes.

Towards the end of the year there were
signs of a slow increase in excavations
and evaluations as development picked
up. A drainage ‘chunker’ duct [see note]
had been lifted for examination from
under the River Chelmer. At Boreham a
12th /13" century farmstead had been
excavated. At Bradwell-on-Sea a Roman
masonry wall relating to outside the
shore fort had been discovered.

At Colchester, Museum Street, the
medieval castle barbican had been
excavated. The Colchester Urban
Archaeological Database was now part-
available at www.heritagegateway.org.uk
At Southend the Prittlewell Prince site
geophysical survey was completed.

The extension to Chelmsford Museum in
Oaklands Park opened early in 2010.

A Bronze Age ring ditch and a timber
structure were found at Sandon.

The proposed Heritage Quest Centre at
Saffron Walden was experiencing
difficulties but progress was maintained.
Proposals were in place for conservation
work at the castle.

On Foulness the Visitor Centre was
proving popular. Excavation at the
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Workhouse site had been completed,
revealing an encampment of the
Rochford Hundred Volunteers.

Exhibition display panels to illustrate
Essex’s industrial heritage had been
prepared for Braintree and Waltham
Abbey Gunpowder Mill museums. The
World War |l Defences Survey for
Maldon District had been completed.
Development Planning Advice to
Thurrock District has returned to Essex
County Council. The 2012 Olympic
mountain bike venue near Hadleigh
Castle was needing archaeological
impact assessments.

The 17" century Stebbing barn reusing a
medieval aisled structure and 17"
century Garnons at Wormingford were
recorded. A publication on Essex
Seaside Resorts was being prepared.

James Kemble

Note: A ‘chunker duct, for those who
don't already know, is a submerged
culvert under a canal usually constructed
of elm. These ‘chunkers’ were put in
when the canal was originally
constructed.

The Editor

BLACKMORE WAR
MEMORIAL RECARVED

Blackmore’s ninety year old War
Memorial has recently been cleaned and
re-engraved with the names of those
who enlisted for King and Country during
the First World War. In total there are
102 names recorded: 21 who died, plus
a further 81 who served. The work was
commissioned by the Parish Council,
who is custodian of this edifice.

The War Memorial, which stands on The
Green, was dedicated on 7" November
1920, four days before the second
Anniversary of the Armistice when
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people would have gathered and paused
for two minutes to remember. The
Essex County Chronicle reported: “The
unveiling of the war memorial took place
on Sunday afternoon, a very large
number of people being present. The
ceremony began with the singing of “O
God Our Help In Ages Past” followed by
the lesson read by the Vicar (the Revd.
W L Petrie) and prayers by Pastor
Francis. At the request of Mr Edmund
Marriage, Lieut. Col. Gibbons D.S.O.
then unveiled the memorial
congratulating Blackmore for having sent
103 men out of a population of 600. He
mentioned that one in every five had
paid the supreme sacrifice — Mr J H Hull
then asked Mr E Marriage as Chairman
of the Parish Council, to accept custody
of the memorial. The names of the fallen
are inscribed on the front face, and on
the other faces the names of the men
from the village who served are
inscribed” (1).

The work was undertaken because the
names carved had weathered over time
and become difficult to read. The Parish
Council did not however have a
workable transcription so a small group
of local historians got together and
worked on a project to investigate the
lives of those commemorated, and to
decipher the faded letters ‘C’ and ‘G’ in
particular. Was the person remembered
Charles or George?

The war casualties turned out to be
relatively easy to identify, because many
of the names are also included on a
window in the village church. Also, the
Commonwealth War Graves
Commission has a lot of information on
casualties, published on a website. As
we looked at a number of sources we
discovered the names of other men, not
listed, who were said to be associated
with Blackmore but died during the Great
War, as it was known then. The Military
Genealogy website gave a number of
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names of individuals who were either
born in Blackmore, Essex or were
resident in Blackmore, not to mention
Blackmoor and other misspellings of the
parish name. After discounting
Blackmore End, which is near
Wethersfield in Essex, we had compiled
a list of 45 men, not 21, who had fallen.
The task was to verify whether these had
a Blackmore connection. With the
survivors listed, this was to be a family
history research project on an epic scale
with a list approaching 125 names.

We decided early in the project to advise
the Parish Council that the War
Memorial should be faithfully re-carved
and that names should not be added: we
would not tinker with history.
Researching the survivors presented a
more difficult problem, but we still found
a surprising number of useful sources of
information. The 1911 census told us
who was living in the village just before
the outbreak of war. In 1918, for the first
time all men could vote, so that told us
who was living in the village at the end of
the war. Then there are records of the
medals that were awarded to all in the
Army at the end of the conflict, which
confirm which regiment people fought in.
The early release of the 1911 census
proved a godsend to our work. Personal
possession of Blackmore’'s 1910
Electoral Register proved useful too as
did the 1918 roll available online. Many
absent voters listed revealed the identity
of some of the survivors, and sadly
positive identification of one of the
victims, Albert Edward Barker, as
landlord of The Bull public house who
had been killed a year earlier. We made
several visits to the excellent Essex
Record Office, making lists of Blackmore
male baptisms and marriages, looking at
the Sunday School Admissions Register,
and numerous other documents
including the Ongar and District War
Memorial Hospital Roll of Honour, which
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we realised was the frequent source of
errors in names of the fallen. The Vicar
and churchwardens generously allowed
us to make a transcript of the Burial
Register dating after 1893, kept in the
church safe and not housed in any
archive anywhere. We ‘enlisted’ the help
of the Essex branch of the Western
Front Association and made regular
contact with the curator at the recently
reopened Essex Regiment Museum in
Chelmsford. Above all we used the
existing ‘Blackmore Area Local History’
website and partner blog to update the
world on progress and encourage
descendents to contact us — which they
did in large numbers offering all kinds of
useful information, and photographs of
the people. We were able to share our
work and help others fill in their family
stories, which is always a pleasure to do.
At the time of writing we have positively
identified all but one name: S Ball.

War Memorials were, of course, erected
because loved ones were either lost or
buried in some foreign field. Very often
the names inscribed are those who lived
in the parish at the time. It came as no
surprise to us to find names of those not
remembered who were bomn in
Blackmore but had moved away or were
resident for only a short time in the
vilage. These epitaphs are by no
means then a definitive list of those who
died in the Great War since there are
errors of omission as well as
commission. We find, for example, four
names of the twenty-one commemorated
also listed on the Doddinghurst War
Memorial tablet inside All Saints’ Church.
The result of our work is now published
online (www.blackmorehistory.co.uk)
with work well in progress to reproduce a
copy as a book running to around 150
pages for future reference by the Parish
Council and researchers visiting the
Essex Record Office. These will form a
permanent record and the meagre
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contribution of our generation to their
remembrance.

“We will remember them”.
Andrew Smith

Source

(1) ERO. T/P 181/2/11. A quotation
taken from a newspaper cutting in the
Cuttle collection, dated 12" November
1920, concerning the dedication of the
War Memorial.

BOOK REVIEW

Reminiscences of an old Colonist,
William Frost (with additional information
by John Appleby, 2009 (originally
published 1897), no ISBN, pp45, cover
illustration, no index, available from John
Appleby, Little Pitchbury, Brick Kiln
Lane, Great Horkesley CO6 4EU for £3
including p&p..

One of 11 children, the author grew up in
poverty in Great Bromley, Essex. In
1846, at the age of 22, he accepted a job
as overseer on a sugar estate in
Trinidad, necessitating a 5 day journey
to reach Glasgow and then 60 days by
sailing ship to Port of Spain. During the
voyage, all the ship’s lifeboats were
swept away in a storm. Though Britain
had abolished slavery in 1837, the trade
was still being operated by other
countries, and some of his workforce
had been liberated from slave ships
intercepted by the Royal Navy. There
were also Indian and Chinese labourers,
harsh weather, unpleasant parasites, too
much cheap rum and readily available
razor-sharp machetes to compound his
problems as overseer. Matters were
aggravated by the British free trade
policy of 1848 which led to a sharp drop
in the price of sugar, resulting in lower
wages for the labour force. The
plantation labourers disappeared into the
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forests, and there was widespread arson
of buildings and cane plantations. There
is a lively account of his adventures and
disasters, as well as the methods of
growing and processing sugar cane. In
1860 he returned to England for the first
time, the passage by steamship being
reduced to a mere 19 days to
Southampton. He returned five years
later to purchase steam ploughs, and
then four years after that for a prolonged
convalescence. By this time he was
managing several estates, including one
of 10,000 acres, mainly growing sugar
cane but also cocoa, limes and
coconuts. In 1880 he retired but made
several return trips to visit — and finally to
sell at a considerable loss — his own
estate in Trinidad. The price of sugar
had collapsed and plantations in the
West Indies had become uneconomic.
Settling in Great Bromley, he involved
himself in local government and was the
first chairman of the parish council. He
died in 1899. This is a lively and
interesting personal account of a very
different time, enhanced by the short
appendices added by John Appleby.
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and the owners now wish to convert the
tower to office use. This will involve
infilling the space between the legs of
the tower, resulting in substantial
changes to its external appearance. This
proposal remains under discussion.

b) Brook House, 34 Maldon Road,
Tiptree has suffered from serious
subsidence (probably aggravated by a
substantial tree much too close to the
building), as well as attacks by vandals.
Application for complete demolition has
been made, but the AMS thinks that the
tree should be removed to establish
whether this would arrest the subsidence
problems.

¢) The National Lottery Fund has made a
‘first round pass’ award of £1.8M to
Colchester Castle for repairs, and new
displays of exhibits. The British Museum
regards Colchester's Roman collection
as one of the most important in Britain
and Europe.

VISIT TO BLACKMORE

ESSEX SEEN FROM
ELSEWHERE

The Winter/Spring newsletter of the
Ancient Monuments Society contains
three matters of Essex interest.

a) The ‘Jumbo’ water tower, a notable
Colchester landmark designed by the
borough engineer (Charles Clegg) and
built in 1882/3, has been redundant for
several years. It is listed Grade II* and a
public enquiry approved conversion for
residential use which would have
involved only relatively minor changes in
the structure. It would have made a
challenging dwelling with a superb view!
However this scheme has fallen through,

Members visited Blackmore church and
village on 27 March 2010. The present
vilage, which does not appear in
Domesday, owes its existence to the
Austin Canons priory, founded for five
canons towards the end of the C12 by
one of the Sanford family. The site was
on low-lying land to the south of the
manor of Fingrith which occupied the
better, higher land. According to Reaney,
Fingrith was the former parish name
(‘priore ecclesie sancti Laurencii de
Blakemora in parochia de Fyngreth’ in
the Registrum of 1310). The same
authority derives the Blackmore place-
name from two components meaning
‘black swamp’. The River Wid runs
nearby, feeding a large moated
enclosure surrounding the site of the
church and priory. The Augustinians
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were a working order, with a tradition for
improving difficult land. In 1232 they
were granted the right to hold a fair on
the vigil, the day and the morrow of St
Laurence (9 to 11 August), and this was
the origin of the present village green on
which an annual cattle fair was held up
to the end of the C19.

The priory was not wealthy and was one
of the first to be dissolved in 1525 when
it was granted to Cardinal Wolsey to
support the foundation of his college in
Oxford, and his school in Ipswich. A
partial inventory has survived, listing the
images and (unusually) the lengths of
the two aisles — Our Lady’s aisle being
40 feet, St Peter's aisle being 52 feet.
There was a nave altar, as well as the
aisle and high altars. After Wolsey’s fall
the priory was granted, in 1532, to
Waltham Abbey, in whose hands it
remained until the final surrender of the
latter (the last in England) in 1540. it is
not known if the canons returned to
Blackmore priory between 1532 and
1540, but after the final dissolution it was
granted to John Smith. The house on the
priory site (known at various times as
Jericho) was sold in about 1714 by the
descendants of John Smith to Jacob
Ackworth who repaired and altered this
building, giving it its present-day
appearance. However its four projecting
square corner turrets are suggestive of a
building of mid C16 construction, albeit
now covered in an early Georgian skin.
Two groups were taken on a guided walk
round the village and returned to the
church for a closer examination of the
fabric. What remains of the priory is the
nave and north and south aisles of the
priory church of C12 date. There was
probably an aisleless chancel for the
monks, the evidence for this being two
blocked and truncated fragments of C12
round-headed window openings (cut into
by the later infilled east wall) which are
below clerestory level. The east wall,
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built after the demolition of the chancel,
contains much re-used material, as well
as the columns (still in situ) of the C14
chancel arch. There does not appear to
have been a crossing tower. The arcade
of the north aisle was rebuilt in the C14,
and again in 1898 by Chancellor & Son
who re-set the same stones. Much of the
north wall was also rebuilt by Chancellor,
incorporating fragments of chevron
ornament and other worked stone.
RCHM suggested that the south aisle
may have collapsed in the C16 when the
aisle arcade was rebuilt with plastered
brick arches and octagonal piers (also
originally plastered). Significant further
movement to one arch has occurred
since then, presumably due to
treacherous foundations on the marshy
ground. The south wall was rebuilt at the
same time, probably after the
suppression as there are no remaining
scars of a cloister roof on the outside
face. However extensive repairs were
required in 1686 when this wall was
ordered to be ‘stopt up with bricks and
stone, and alsoe at ye East end, and to
be plaisterd over, so any scars might
have been eradicated at this time. At the
east end of the south aisle is a blocked
doorway (surmounted by an
unidentifiable carved beast) that may
have led into the cloisters.

The easternmost arcade arches are very
low, suggesting that the east end of the
two aisles was originally of two storeys;
RCHM thought that a pulpitum may have
extended across the nave at this point.
The south east bay now contains the
organ and the fine 1592 tomb with
recumbent alabaster effigies of Thomas
Smith and his wife, much repaired and
reconstructed. Fragments of the effigies
of their children, and two decorated
pilaster strips, found in the belfry have
been incorporated into the modern base.
When the RCHM published their report
in 1921, the belfry was a veritable
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charnel house of fragments of medieval
worked stone, with more fragments
noted in the churchyard.

The particular glory of this church is the
massive timber belfry, the largest in
Essex. Recent dendrodating revealed
felling dates from the winters of 1397/8/
1398/9 and 1399/40. All the medieval
Essex timber belfries that can be reliably
dated fall within a few decades of 1400.
At Blackmore the construction of the
belfry blocked the original west entrance
to the priory church, and dendrodating
confirms that no entrance had been
provided through the west wall of the
belfry at ground level, as these timbers
are contemporary with the rest of the
structure. There are five bells (the same
number as at the 1686 visitation), now
mounted on a mid C18 bellframe.
Drawings in the Chancellor collection
include a very accurate drawing of the
belfry, and indicate that the spire above
the bell chamber was reconstructed in
1900. In recent years, woodpeckers
have caused considerable damage to
the cedar shingles on the spire. The
holes are not made in search of food, but
as a demonstration of the prowess of the
male birds!

Though the nave roof appears to have
been  rebuilt  (presumably  during
Chancellor's restoration) the evidence
from the re-used heraldic shields on the
inside indicate that it had been
reconstructed at the same time as belfry.
This flurry of re-building around the turn
of the C14 suggests that this was a
prosperous time for the priory.

Though the Society visited this church in
1903, 1915, 1930, and 1948, only very
scanty reports appear in the
Transactions. We are most grateful to
our guides, Andrew Smith and Bruno
Giordan, for a very interesting visit, and
to Ann Newman and her team for the
usual excellent tea that followed.
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Michael Leach

[Additional information from VCH ii, 146;
EAT x, 17, xxii, 324 & indexes; EAH v,
209; RCHM i, 15; Reaney's Place-
Names of Essex, 236]

THE HEREFORD MAPPA
MUNDI

Many members will have heard of this
map of the known world which was
made for the monks of Hereford on a
single sheet of vellum in about 1290.
Like all maps of the period it placed
Jerusalem in the centre, and England,
Scotland and Ireland are tightly
squeezed into the bottom edge, right on
the limits of the known world. The map
was discovered under a floor in one of
the cathedral precinct buildings in the
C18, still in its original medieval frame
with a triangular head decorated with
leaf shaped finials. This frame has
subsequently been lost and not
replaced. For reasons so far
unexplained, one of the more surprising
items in the Society’s library is the
photograph taken in 1868 by a Hereford
photographer, Thomas Ladmore,
showing the original frame. Though the
photograph is faded and rather crudely
trimmed, it is the only surviving close-up
image of the map’s decorative frame. It
also shows the iron brackets which were
used to fix the frame to the wall when it
was displayed in the cathedral after its
discovery. Perhaps woodworm or damp
subsequently damaged the frame, or
maybe a later generation felt that it
detracted from the map itself, and had it
removed. About a decade ago, the
remains of the frame were found
amongst rubbish in the stables of the
bishop’s palace but my informant from
the Woolhope Club (our sister society in
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Herefordshire) had no information about
its present whereabouts.

The photograph is not listed in the
Society’s 1923 library catalogue and any
information about how it was acquired
would be very welcome. Council felt that
this unique record, which is of no direct
relevance to Essex, should be reunited
with the Mappa Mundi at Hereford, and it
has recentlr been donated to the
cathedral. Though the cathedral library
has other Ladmore photographs of the
Mappa, it did not own this one, which
shows the map in close-up, still attached
by nails to its backboard. A letter of
appreciation of our gift has been
received from the cathedral librarian and
a copy of the photograph has been kept
for the Society’s library.

A magnificent facsimile of the Hereford
Mappa Mundi, with the original colouring
restored, has been made for the current
map exhibition at the British Library.

Michael Leach

WILLIAM BYRD’S LIBRARY

William Byrd, the Elizabethan composer,
lived at Stondon Massey for the last
thirty years of his life, dying in 1623. He
was a Catholic but avoided the severest
penalties because of his association with
the Chapel Royal and the sovereigns:
Queen Elizabeth | (who loved his music)
and James |. Recently evidence has
come to light which provides an insight
into this composer's life as well as his
music.

Two leading Byrd scholars, Kerry
McCarthy and John Harley, have
announced in the Musical Times (Winter
2009) the discovery of ten books
containing Byrd's signature which had
hitherto eluded nearly all other scholars.
These books are in libraries spread
across the United Kingdom and the
United States of America but the authors
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have inspected each one and confirmed
the identifications of the signatures to be
genuine.

It is thought that Byrd may have
collected books because of his
association with the publishing trade.
Alongside Thomas Tallis, Queen
Elizabeth granted him exclusive right to
publish music.

The discovery of these books is
important because, like any personal
library, they reflect the tastes of the
owner. Nine books are about religion,
but more accurately the politics
surrounding the Catholic and Protestant
situation of the time, taking the
Protestant side of the argument. One,
‘The unmasking of the politike athiest,
published in 1602, is a violent attack on
the Roman Catholic religion by J. Hull.
He condemns musical and liturgical
practices of English Catholics, describing
the ‘Ave maris stella’ (Hail Virgin Mary)
as blasphemous and denounced the use
of organs and other instruments of the
church. ‘Superstitious’ holidays such as
Candlemas, All Saints and Corpus
Christi did not- escape Hull's tirade.
What is curious is that Byrd should own
such a book which was against
everything he held dear. We know that
Byrd composed many settings for such
festive occasions. The authors suggest
that Byrd was wily in his choice of books
on public display and attempted to
deceive those who browsed his
bookshelves or those who were
instructed, as in May 1585, ‘too send for
byrd of the chappell and that his howse
be diligentlye searchyd’.

The tenth book is one typical of the age.
It is a sixteenth century travel guide
covering everything from what to see,
eat, wear and observe as customs “so
that the traveller after his rangings and
peregrinations shall retire himself a man
of skill”. Byrd though was an armchair
traveller believed to have never left
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these shores, unlike his brother John
who was a London merchant and ship
owner who frequently exported wheat to
Spain and traded as far a field as West
Africa and Brazil.

These fresh insights reveal that history is
not a dead subject. Our modern age
with its worldwide web is adding to the
stories of our forbears. It's a great time
to be a local historian!

Andrew Smith

A VISIT TO LEYTON IN
1709

From The Diary of Ralph Thoresby1677-
1724, published in London in 1830:

“20 January 1709...... rode to Mile End,
Stratford, and Bow, to Low Leyton,
rightly so called from its situation, the
meadows being covered with water, like
an arm of the sea, but we found the road
good, and were kindly received by the
worthy Mr Strype, a pious divine, and
indefatigably industrious historian, as
appears by the many volumes of his
handwriting, and some of them
prodigiously large folios, which | was
really surprised with the sight of, and
with his noble collection of original letters
of King Henry the Eighth, and several of
his Queens, Edward the Sixth, Queen
Jane, Queen Mary, and Queen
Elizabeth, with Cardinal Wolsey, Pole,
and others of the most eminent clergy,
both before and after the Reformation,
with the most eminent statesmen,
divines, and historians; which, |
perceived, had been the collections of
the famous Lord Treasurer, Burleigh, to
whom most of the later letters were
directed, and particularly those of the
Lord Chancellor, Earl of Essex, Sir Philip
Sidney, Sir Walter Mildmay, and
Secretary Wilson that he presented me
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with. Returned very well and in good
time.”

[Biographical note: Ralph Thoresby
(1658-1725) was a well travelled
historian and topographer of Leeds, in
contact with many of his contemporary
antiquaries and historians. John Strype
(1643-1737), was minister of Low Leyton
for 68 years where he rebuilt part of the
church and provided himself with a new
rectory, stables and outhouses, and
‘new-planted and trenched the Gardens
and Orchards’. He was a distinguished
ecclesiastical historian and biographer,
and a prodigious collector of pre- and
post- Reformation MSS. It was through
the good offices of a parishioner, Sir
William Hickes, that Strype obtained
access to Lord Burleigh’s papers, some
of which he had managed to acquire for
his collection. The old DNB entry noted
that many of the Burleigh MSS were
obtained ‘by questionable means’, but
the 2004 ODNB entry exonerates him to
a large degree. The MSS had been
loaned to Strype, by Hickes and by a
publisher, in order that Strype could edit
them for a printed edition. Before this
had been completed, Hickes had
become insane, and the publisher,
having already decided that the project
would be too costly, had died leaving his
debts to Strype unpaid. Though he might
reasonably have been entitled to keep
the MSS in lieu of payment for his work,
Strype, in his will, identified the material
that was to be returned to the publisher’s
heirs. It is not clear if these intentions
were honoured, as Strype suffered from
a stroke in 1720 and the acquisitive
Humfrey Wanley (acting on behalf of his
master, Robert Harley, first Earl of
Oxford) instructed a London bookseller
to keep a sharp eye on Strype’s health
and the prospects for acquiring his
collection. Although Strype, contrary to
expectation, outlived both Wanley and
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Robert Harley by more than a decade,
much of Strype’s collection passed into
the second earl of Oxford’s library and is
now amongst the Harleian MSS in the
British Library.]

Michael Leach

Sources:

Addison, W., 1973 Essex Worthies
Martin, G. & McConnell, A., 2004 ‘John
Strype’ in ODNB

Newcourt, R., 1710 Repertorium, ii
Ogborne, E., 1814 History of Essex
Watkins, J., 1826 Universal Biographical
Dictionary

A CONTEMPORARY
ACCOUNT OF C16 & C17
BUILDING PRACTICES

Robert Ryece of Preston near Lavenham
compiled his Breviary of Suffolk during
the first two decades of the C17. Though
it relates to Suffolk, his home was near
enough to the Essex border to think that
his account may have some relevance to
Essex. Sandwiched between accounts
on ‘Sea Fowle’ and ‘Entercourse’ (by
which he meant highways and bridges)
are sections on ‘Castles’, ‘Mansions or
dwelling houses’ and ‘Tenements’. The
section on castles is largely historical
and political, but the other two focus
much more on the practical construction
of these buildings. He noted that the
oldest houses ‘for their more security
and quiet against all  worldly
accidents....were environed with a deep
ditch or moat and to that end....they
were enforced to low valleys, that they
might the more easily draw water from
the next river...” This is no surprise; thirty
years ago, Aberg noted that Essex and
Suffolk had the largest number of
moated sites of any other English county
by a large margin, though the modern
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view is that the function of most of these
moats was not defensive.

He described the old houses having
thick walls, small windows and ‘their
chimneys large, or instead of them to
have round harthes in the midst of their
great hals or roomes, with round holes or
lovers aloft in the roof, which carried
away the smoake never offending.’ In
contrast the newer buildings were placed
where ‘they may bee furthest seen, have
best prospect, sweetest air, and greatest
pleasure, their walls thin, their lights
large, all for outward show....” The large
windows would have been encouraged
by the general availability of glass by the
C17. Also the insertion of new internal
floors in hall houses created new rooms
which needed to be lit. Surprisingly
Ryece noted that the new buildings were
often three or four storeys in height,
though this may have included cellars,
as well as dormers which, by the C17,
were being inserted to make the roof
space habitable.  Suffolk  houses
changed in style earlier than those in
Essex, and tended to be longer and
narrower, with steeper roof pitches (the
last feature probably reflecting the
dominant use of thatch in that county).
Also houses in Suffolk were plastered
externally at an earlier date than in
Essex, and this could go with thinner
walls — it certainly did so by the C18.
Ryece made a curious observation about
more recent roofs, noting that they were
‘square, and so slender that they are
enforced often to repaire, and in all
buildings this one thing is observed,
spare of stuffe scarcity of timber (which
is too general) and that workman that
can doe his worke with most beauty,
least charge, (albeit not so strong) hee is
most required.” By the time that Ryece
was writing, the crown post roof had
been abandoned in favour of the side
purlin. This type used less timber, and
was a little less stable, particularly as
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hips and gablets, which brace and
strengthen roof structures, had fallen out
of fashion. The other factor is that
pantiles from the Low Countries had
begun to replace thatch by the early
C17, resulting in heavier loads on the
roof.

Though Ryece lamented the ‘carelesse
wast of this age of our wonted plenty of
timber, and other building stuffe’, there is
no real evidence of a shortage of timber,
though it was used in different ways and
was probably of lower quality through a
decline in woodland management,
resulting in the use of smaller sections
with much sap wood content. It is
apparent from passages elsewhere in
his account that he had a theological axe
to grind about waste, profligacy and
extravagant display, so this may have
coloured his views on the availability of
timber and other building materials.
Suffolk building practices did differ
somewhat from those in Essex, but
Ryece was most familiar with the area of
his county nearest to Essex, so it is likely
that his observations will have some
relevance to our county.

Michael Leach

(with grateful thanks to Elphin Watkin for
the technical background)

Sources:

Aberg, F A, 1978 Medieval Moated
Sites, CBA Research Report 17
Clifton-Taylor, A, 1972 The Pattern of
English Building, Faber

Ryece, R, 1618 The Breviary of Suffolk
(1902 edition, John Murray)

ESSEX NUMISMATIC
SOCIETY

Members of ESAH are welcome to
attend meetings of the Essex
Numismatic Society which meets on the
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fourth Friday of each month at 7.30pm
for 8.00pm at the Chelmsford Museum in
Moulsham Street. The programme so far
is:

2010

24 September: ‘Emergency
banknotes’ by John Cowlin

22 October: ‘Suffolk tokens’ by Nigel
Clark

26 November: ‘Coins of the Knights of
Malta’ by Tony Holmes

2011

28 January: Short talk and exchange &
mart

25 February: ‘Medieval half groats’ by
David Greenhalgh

25 March: ‘The Viking coinage of York’
by Megan Gooch

22 April: AGM and annual exhibition

issue

TWO FORGOTTEN ESSEX
ANTIQUARIES: JOHN &
THOMAS LUFKIN

Gibson’s 1722 edition of Camden’s
Britannia contains a list, arranged by
counties, of ‘Books and Treatises
relating to the Antiquities of England’.
Apart from two, all the Essex authors are
familiar names whose biographies are
already well known. The exceptions are
Thomas and John Lufkin.

Nothing is known about John Lufkin who,
in 1700, wrote a letter to the
Philosophical Transactions (xxii, 924-6)
about some large bones found in a
gravel pit near Colchester. According to
Samuel Dale he gave an account in the
same article of bones found in a cliff at
Harwich, which he had identified as
those of an elephant.

According to Foster, Thomas Lufkin was
born in Colchester on 22 February
1678/9 His father was John Lufkin, an
apothecary in the town. He matriculated
at Christ Church College, Oxford in
December 1700, aged 20, and
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proceeded to BA in 1704, and MA in
1707. His date of ordination is not stated,
but he was appointed rector of Frating in
1709 and rector of Layer de la Haye and
Berechurch in 1711. Though Morant
agrees with this date for the Frating
living, other sources give somewhat
earlier dates for his preferments, but he
appears to have held all three until his
death in 1745. The visitations of 1727
and 1738 noted that he was partly
resident in Frating, and partly in
Colchester.

His scientific and antiquarian interests
were developed early in adult life. In
1699 his letter to Dr Wallis was
published in the Philosophical
Transactions, describing an inscription
on a carved wooden window cill in a
house in Colchester. This appeared to
bear the date 1090 in Arabic numerals
and led to a great deal of discussion
over the following decades about when
such numerals were introduced into
Europe, and whether the date had been
misread, or was a forgery. This
controversy was aired over a century
later in Thomas Cromwell’s History of
Colchester. In the same letter, Lufkin
described his proposal for the
‘Application of a Pneumatic Engine to
Cupping-Glasses’. A separate letter on
the same subject, to Sir Hans Sloane,
was published in the same journal.

The next reference to Lufkin is found in a
letter of December 1712 from Nicholas
Jekyll to William Holman. The writer
advises a further visit to ‘Mr Lufkin of
Colchester in connection with material
that Lufkin had contributed to the new
edition of Camden’s Britannia. Jekyll
doubted whether Lufkin would ever get
round to publishing anything on his own
account, but thought that his notes
(possibly on his collection of coins) might
be suitable as an appendix to the book
that Holman was working on. Jekyll also
thought that Lufkin might be able to point
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Holman to some useful manuscript
sources.

In 1722 Lufkin organised a careful
survey of the Lexden earthworks. This
project is mentioned both by Philip
Morant and by Thomas Cromwell. A
professional surveyor, Payler Smith, was
used to take the measurements, and
perhaps Lufkin acted as his assistant
(and presumably paid his fees). Payler
Smith’s plan, if it was ever drawn out,
does not seem to have survived. Morant
recorded the bearings and the
measurements taken by the surveyor,
and also made a rough sketch plan in his
own annotated copy of The History of
Colchester.

As both men lived in or near to
Colchester, it is not surprise to find that,
towards the end of Lufkin’s life, he
collaborated with Morant in editing an
edition of Matthew Carter’s True Relation
of that honourable tho’ unfortunate
expedition of Kent, Essex and
Colchester in 1648. This was printed by
J. Pilborough in Colchester, probably in
1745, and there is an imperfect copy in
the British Library. No library in Essex
appears to possess this book.

Though Thomas Lufkin is dwarfed by his
other contemporary antiquaries,
nevertheless he seems to have been
well regarded by them, and was
regarded as a useful potential source of
information. John Lufkin was presumably
a relative (possibly his father) but
nothing further has been discovered
about him.

Michael Leach

Sources

Pearson, Dr J, unpublished database of
Essex clergy

Taylor, S & Dale, S, 1732 History &
Antiquities of Harwich, 296

Cromwell, T, 1826 History of Colchester,
195-8, 241
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Morant, P, 1748 History of Colchester, i,
25

Laver, H, 1902 ‘Oliver’s
Ramparts: an Earthwork
Colchester’ in EAT ns viii, 369-372
Foster, J, 1891 Alumni Oxoniensis,
Oxford

Letter dated 2 December 1712 from N
Jekyll to Rev. W Holman: ERO D/Y
1/1/111/16

Philosophical Transactions, xxi (1699),
287-8, 408-10

Thicks
near

VISIT TO EAST DONYLAND
HALL

Members visited this house on 17 April
under a perfect spring sky, completely
free of aeroplanes due to the volcanic
eruption in Iceland.

The owner warmly welcomed us, and
explained that the manor had come into
the hands of Queen Maud who had
granted it to St John's Abbey,
Colchester. By the time of the
Dissolution, the abbey owned most of
the parish which then passed through
various hands until its purchase, in 1730,
by David Gansel. He was an amateur
architect who had already been active in
altering his house and grounds at

Leyton. He made extensive
improvements to his new acquisition at
East Donyland, and laid out the

surrounding park. He encased the early
C17 U-shaped timber framed house in a
brick skin, filling in the courtyard on the
south side to form a rectangular building.
The bewildering changes of levels
internally at first floor level may reflect a
series of piecemeal alterations carried
out while the family continued to live in
the rest of the house - not an
uncommon situation. On the main east
elevation Gansel raised the parapet to
hide the dormers, and inserted false
windows in the brickwork to give the
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appearance of an extra storey. The sash
windows on this elevation are unusually
narrow (two panes wide, rather than the
usual three) effectively making the
facade look higher than it really is. The
appearance of height was enhanced by
the rusticated brick pilasters. A broad
moat survives on three sides of the
house; a small spur at the southeast end
suggests that it originally existed across
the east side as well, but it was probably
filled in by Gansel.

The next development — at an unknown
date — was the bizarre addition of a huge
double height ballroom on the north side,
which is shown in a painting by John
Vine dated 1838. By the end of the
century this had disappeared and had
been replaced by a modest single storey
lean-to which is shown in the RCHM
photograph.

In 1945/6, most of the high parapet with
its false windows was removed and a
new single storey extension added to the
north, with a matching screen wall on the
south side. Stone urns were placed at
strategic points on the reduced parapet
where, however, the faint scars of the
lower part of the false windows are still
visible. There have been various internal
alterations since, including the removal
of a chimney breast and the servant’s
staircase to enlarge the room in the
south east corner. Alterations upstairs
revealed a very low doorway opening
into what had been the open courtyard of
the earlier house — almost certainly the
garderobe door.

East of the house, on the opposite side
of the large oval turning circle, are three
low pedimented ranges of outbuildings,
end-on to the house, dating from David
Gansel's time. The elevations facing the
house are built in extremely fine
brickwork with a very smooth white lime
mortar, and each has an elegant
doorcase with broken pediment, belying
the utilitarian function of the buildings
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behind (brew house, dairy and stables/
chaise house respectively). What is
puzzling is that the side walls of two of
these buildings are about 5° off the right
angle to the front wall and are of much
inferior brickwork. No explanation could
be found for this curious arrangement.
Further east are two walled gardens (the
northernmost of which has a large
blocked gateway, perhaps originally the
main axial access to Gansel’'s improved
house) and some later brick farm
buildings  with  dentilated eaves.
Southeast of the walled gardens, now
partly hidden in woodland, are three
ponds in line, two of which are at a
higher level. They are retained by
substantial embankments and are said
to be medieval fishponds dug by the
monks of St John’s. However the abbey
owned, from the early Middle Ages, two
fish ponds at Bourne Mill, much closer to
their main premises in Colchester, and
the East Donyland ponds, with their
broad banks and fine views across to
Wivenhoe, are more likely to have been
part of Gansel's ambitious landscaping
scheme.

We are deeply indebted to the owners
for their very warm welcome, and for
allowing us free access to their delightful
house and grounds — and, of course, to
Ann Newman and her helpers for an
excellent tea.

Michael Leach

HISTORICAL
ASSOCIATION, ESSEX
BRANCH

Meetings will be held in The Link, Trinity
Methodist Church, Chelmsford.

Followed by tea/coffee and biscuits

Free parking at the Church or in the
Essex County Council car-park opposite

Summer 2010

Visitors and prospective members
warmly welcome - a £2 donation is
requested.
www.essexinfo.net/essex-branch-of-
historical-association/

PROGRAMME 2010 - 2011

SATURDAY, 2"° OCTOBER 2010; The
Italian Renaissance and links with
France and England [illustrated], AGM
followed by Glenn Richardson, Reader in
Early Modern History & Academic
Director, School of Theology, Philosophy
and History, St Mary’s University
College, Strawberry Hill, Twickenham, a
college of the University of Surrey:

SATURDAY, 30™ OCTOBER 2010;
Using Original Historical Documents
with Schoolchildren and “Children” of
all Ages! ([illustrated], lan Mason,
Programme Secretary, Cumbria branch
of the Historical Association: lan’s
lecture will be a personal memorial by
the branch to the late Nancy Edwards,
who played such a key role in the life
of the branch for so many years.

SATURDAY, 4™ DECEMBER 2010;
Members’ Meeting, This is a chance for
any member to present a short talk on
any subject they may be researching or
simply have an interest in. Alternatively,
we choose a theme and members select
which aspect they would like to talk
about. Whether the talks are on serious
subjects or (usually) not, this is always
great fun afternoon. We are still
discussing the format for this meeting.

SATURDAY, 8™ JANUARY 2011;
Mountbatten: Hero of our time, Dr
Adrian Smith, Senior Lecturer in the
School of Humanities, University of
Southampton

SATURDAY, 5™ FEBRUARY 2011;
Women and Work in the Middle Ages.
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[illustrated]; Anne Curry, Head of the
School of Humanities and Professor of
Medieval History, Southampton
University, and President of the
Historical Association.

SATURDAY, 5™ MARCH 2011; The
Strategy of the American Civil War,
Professor Brian Holden Reid, King's
College, London.
SATURDAY, 9™ APRIL 2011;
Colichester’s Roman Circus: Past and
Future, Philip Crummy, Director of the
Colchester Archaeological Trust.

SATURDAY, 7™ MAY 2011; Witchcraft
- How ‘bad’' were the East Anglian
Witch-Hunts of 1645-47? Mid-
Seventeenth Century English Witch
Persecution in Comparative Context,
Alison Rowlands, Senior Lecturer in
European History, University of Essex:

LANDSCAPE CREATION
AT MUCKING

This exciting project is spearheaded by
the Essex Wildlife Trust with backing
from  various other  commercial
organisations, the relevant local
authorities, the Port of London Authority
and the Thames Gateway Corporation.
Mucking marshes have been exploited in
the past for sand and gravel extraction,
and more recently as a landfill site for six
of London’s boroughs. The waste has
arrived at Mucking Flats by barge for off-
loading by crane and this will cease once
the final top soil restoration is completed.
A new visitor centre will be built
overlooking Mucking Flats and Stanford
le Hope marshes, and a wide range of
different habitats will be created on the
(uttimately) 1300 acre site — a variety of
grassland (some grazed), salt marsh,
reed beds, scrapes, mud flats, woodland
and scrub. The area includes Stanford
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Warren to the north which already has
the largest reed bed in Essex, as well as
a small area of ancient woodland (with a
rookery) on the west side of the site. A
new footbridge over Mucking Creek will
improve access. Obviously all this is
dependant on successful fundraising and
will take several years to come to
fruition, but the potential success of this
form of landscape re-creation has
already been well demonstrated by the
RSPB at their new reserve on the former
military fiing ranges at Rainham
Marshes — well worth a visit for those
who are not already familiar with it.

Michael Leach

Source: Essex Wildlife. Spring 2010, 10-
13

ESSEX HERITAGE AT
RISK!

The Buildings at Risk Register compiled
by Essex County Council has changed
to Heritage at Risk and will be available
from September 2010. The new register
will show a much greater picture of the
risks to heritage in Essex by including
scheduled monuments, registered parks
and gardens and conservation areas as
well as buildings.

Do you know of a designated heritage
asset that should be included on the
resister? Or would you like more
information on the 2010 Heritage at Risk
Register? If so, please contact Laura
Belton at ECC Historic Environment
telephone 01245 437613 or e-mail

laura.belton @ essex.gov.uk
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publication of articles in each Volume of Essex Archaeology and History as well as
Occasional Papers. Donations are placed into an INALIENABLE account, which cannot
be spent. It is the Interest thereon which is distributed by awards granted by our
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Michael Leach
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Sally Gale
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FROM THE PRESIDENT

The production of volume 40 (2009) of
the Transactions continues apace with
despatch projected to take place early in
the New Year. Whilst this is marginally
delayed from my previous forecast it is
also anticipated that it will be possible to
combine the mailing with a further Index
Volume covering volumes 21 to 30
(1990-9). Our Indexer, Peter Gunn, has
completed the necessary work with the
checking and finishing touches
remaining outstanding. It is envisaged
that it will also be possible to continue
the indexing process for volumes 31 to
40 (2000-9) in order to ensure
completion of the entire Third Series.

As always, | wish to pay a fulsome
tribute to Chris Starr, ably assisted by
Helen Walker, who work tirelessly to
ensure that our flagship publication
appears in a timely fashion. Numerous
members assist in the production of the
Transactions. In the case of the
forthcoming volume | wish to single out
Owen Bedwin, Nigel Brown and
especially Maria Medlycott. All three are
members of the Historic Environment
Branch of the Essex County Council with
whom we enjoy an excellent relationship.
| am further delighted to announce that
Maria has been appointed Secretary of
the Publications Committee where it has
proved possible to take advantage of her
skills and efficiency on a more formal
basis. Neil Wiffen was appointed
Chairman at the last meeting of the
Publications Committee held on 27"
September and has the formidable task
of succeeding Dr Owen Bedwin who
performed this role for a twenty year
period (see Spring 2010 Newsletter).
Neil, of course, requires scant
introduction for he is widely known
through his role as Public Service Team
Manager at the Essex Record Office. He
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has further enhanced his reputation as
the innovative Editor of the Essex
Journal. | wish them well for the future
and am greatly encouraged that we have
succeeded in reducing the age profile.
This bodes extremely well for the future
of our Society.

It is with enormous regret that |
announce the retirement of Ann Turner
as Membership Secretary. Ann has
performed this valuable role in an
exemplary manner since June 2001. Her
retirement is, of course, well deserved
having given a decade of service to the
Society. We are extremely grateful to
Ann for her magnificent contribution safe
in the knowledge that we knew at all
times who was a fully paid-up member!
Clearly, we need to fill the vacuum. You
will find a letter asking for a replacement
enclosed with this Newsletter. The
position requires a person with the ability
to pay attention to detail, keep accurate
records and enjoy interfacing with the
membership. If this challenge appeals
then you would certainly be working as
part of a friendly and lively team. Michael
Leach or | would warmly welcome
contact from interested members.

| have frequently made mention during
the last year of the rising levels of public
debt and the consequent risk to non-
statutory  services  resulting from
inevitable fiscal tightening. Since my last
statement the Essex County Council
(“E.C.C.") have announced a programme
to achieve savings of £300 million by the
end of March 2013. The full impact of
these developments is yet to be
disclosed. However, early indications
suggest that the essential grant provided
by the E.C.C. to the Victoria County
History of Essex will either be severely
reduced or cut completely. This is, of
course, wholly unwelcome and gives rise
to serious consequences — not least,
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concerns regarding the continuing
employment of two very fine historians,
Chris Thornton and Herbert Eiden, who
have served this county well over a
considerable period of time. | fear that
this is just the beginning of a very difficult
period where we shall be called upon to
rigorously defend our cultural heritage.

However, | wish to conclude on a more
positive note. It was with enormous
pleasure that | was able to accept an
invitation to attend the recent launch at
Sible Hedingham of Adrian Corder-
Birch’s latest book entitted Our
Ancestors were Brickmakers and
Potters. This provided a wonderful
opportunity to support Adrian who has
contributed so significantly to Essex
history. The occasion also provided an
opportunity to meet members of the
Minter family who have being
manufacturing home-made bricks since
the 1930s. Indeed, the Bulmer Brick and
Tile Company achieved notoriety by
providing many of the one million bricks
used in the recent restoration of St
Pancras Station. It is gratifying to realise
that such fine traditions continue to
enhance the reputation of our beloved
county.

H. Martin Stuchfield

BISHOP’S PALACE AT
RETTENDON?

On the road between Rettendon and
Downham Green, just south of what is
now called Warren Lane, there was a
house with modest grounds named as
‘Palace’ on early maps (such as
Chapman and Andre of 1777, and the
first edition 1” OS sheet of 1799). The
name does not appear on modern maps
but the present lane follows an identical
route to that shown by Chapman and
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Andre, and the site can be identified with
some certainty. It is now occupied by
Poplar's Lodge and Poplar's Farm, just
to the west of the Running Well
equestrian centre.

Morant noted that the lordship of
Rettendon was part of the pre-Conquest
endowment of the abbey at Ely. In 1108
it became part of the possessions of the
bishop of Ely, and in 1213 the bishop
was granted leave to add 20 acres of
land to his park at Rettendon (or leave to
enclose his wood?). In 1223 the king
granted ten does and two stags ‘out of
the king’s forest in the parts about
Colchester’ to Geoffrey, bishop of Ely. It
has been suggested that this was to
stock the bishop’s park at Rettendon.
Nearly two years later, it was noted that
the does had proved so difficult to take in
the forest of Essex that an order was
given for them to be supplied from
Rockingham forest. In the History of
Essex by a Gentleman, the author noted
‘The manor house lies at a small
distance north west of the church, round
which was formerly a park paled in and
well stocked with deer. The bishop of Ely
kept it in exceeding good order in the
reign of Henry the Third'.

No authority for this statement is
provided. By 1500 the bishopric of Ely
held some 50 manors scattered
throughout East Anglia, but Rettendon
was on the extreme southwest periphery
of its landholdings and was its only
Essex property. By this date, the
mansions ‘where the bishops resided
regularly were within the Isle of Ely
(Wisbech, Downham, Somersham, Fen
Ditton and Ely itself). In addition there
was Hatfield Palace (a useful stopping
place en route to London), and Ely Place
in Holborn in the capital itself. By the
beginning of the C16, many of the
distant manors (including Rettendon)
were let out on leases, though the
advowsons, and the right to levy men for
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the king’s service, were still retained by
the bishop.

It is not clear when Rettendon was
alienated to the crown. Unlike some
other sees, Ely managed to retain much
of its extensive property until well after
the reformation. This was the result of a
prolonged struggle between bishop Cox
of Ely and Elizabeth I, which only ended
with Cox’s death in 1581. The see was
then kept vacant for an unprecedented
19 years (during which time its revenues
were conveniently appropriated by the
crown). When the next bishop was
appointed in 1599, 34 of the remaining
manors were transferred to the crown on
the undertaking (by Robert Cecil) that
their revenues would be used for the
public good. Even if the bishopric had
managed to retain Rettendon up to this
point, the manor had probably been
disparked and tenanted for at least a
century. It is not shown as a park on
Norden’s 1594 map. The first lay owner
of Rettendon was recorded in 1601, so
perhaps the manor was one of those that
were surrendered in 1599.

The name ‘Palace’ remains an enigma. It
is 2kms to the west of the site of the
manor house of Rettendon Place which
adjoined the parish church. The manor
house itself would have been the
obvious residence for the owner or
tenant of the manor. Adjoining it there is
a gabled brick building of C16 date, now
called the ‘Bishop of Ely’s Stables’.
Though originally a barn, it was clearly a
high status one, being built in brick.
Perhaps both names are fanciful, as it
seems unlikely that the bishop would
have personally lived in, or even visited,
such an out-of-the-way place. However
the names are an important reminder of
the medieval ownership of this manor by
the bishop of Ely.

Reaney was unable to throw any light on
the derivation of the Rettendon place-
name, other than noting the ‘dun’
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element meaning hill. Earlier writers
hazarded a Saxon derivation referring to
the poor state of the roads in the area.
These were still notoriously bad when
Thomas Wright compiled his History of
Essex in 1831 — perhaps another reason
for thinking that the bishop might have
been an infrequent visitor.

Michael Leach

Sources

EAT ii, ns, 261; v, 1% series, 200
History of Essex by a Gentleman 1770, i,
217

Heal, F, 1973 ‘Economic Problems of the
Bishopric of Ely in C16’ in Economic
History Review

Morant, P, 1768 History of Essex, ii
Reaney, P H, 1935 The Place-Names of
Essex, CUP

Wright, T, 1831 History of Essex, i

ESSEX SEEN FROM
ELSEWHERE

On 12 January 2010, the roof of the
parish church of St Mary at Sheering
was damaged by fire, apparently caused
by an electrical fault. It is to be hoped
that the fire damage was not too bad, as
Cecil Hewett described the nave roof as
a rare and interesting one of C14 date.

The Historic Churches Trust has recently
become the owner of the Petre mortuary
chapel at Thorndon Park, a spectacular
design of 1857 by Charles Wardell.
English Heritage will provide a 70%
grant towards the cost of repair.

Essex, it seems, can claim to have been
the first county to publish an authoritative
account of its church chests (in 1913).
Our sister society, the Suffolk Institute of
Archaeology and History, has recently
published the third such county
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inventory.  Taking advantage of
dendrochronology, Suffolk can now
claim to have the oldest known church
chest, that at Poslingford, dated to the
final quarter of the C13. It is made of
wood of Baltic origin, apparently from the
same batch that was used for the
construction of the presbytery roof at St
Alban’s abbey. There is an elevational
drawing of this chest, with reconstruction
of the medieval iron work from surviving
fragments and the iron stains on the
wood. The report written by David
Sherlock is available from the Suffolk
Institute at £12-50.

Michael Leach

Sources:

Ancient Monuments Society Newsletter,
Summer 2010

Hewett, C A, 1982 Church Carpentry,
Phillimore

Lewer, W H & Wall J C, 1913 The
Church Chests of Essex, London

ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

This took place in the magnificent setting
of the Council Chamber of Braintree
Town Hall. After the conclusion of the
formal business, David Andrews gave a
short account of the building.

This is one of the grandest municipal
buildings in Essex, rivalling County Hall
in Chelmsford. It is listed Grade II* (very
unusual for a building of this period) and
it owes everything to the drive and
wealth of W J Courtauld (WJC), the
architect he commissioned (E. Vincent
Harris) and the superb workmanship of
the contractors. The Courtaulds had
been in Braintree and Bocking since the
early C19 and their contribution to public
buildings and public life in Braintree was
considerable. WJC himself dedicated his
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life to local government and to public
service. Vincent Harris (1876-1971) is
now a largely forgotten architect but was
the designer of numerous town halls —
Nottingham, Leeds, Bristol and Sheffield
are examples. He also did some work on
County Hall in Chelmsford, funded by
WJC. He did not embrace the Modern
Movement in architecture. By the time he
was awarded the RIBA gold medal in
1951 his style of architecture would have
seemed out-dated, and he rather sharply
noted in his acceptance speech “You
don't like what | do, and | don't like what
you do”. One of his later buildings in
London was to be the target of a protest
group, called the ‘Anti-Uglies’, which was
opposed to conservative traditional
architecture.

For Braintree town hall, WJC insisted
that he “only wanted the best” and, not
surprisingly, the building went well over
budget, costing some £55,000. It is in an
Italian/French renaissance style, faced
with hand-made bricks and Portland
stone with a steeply hipped roof and a
baroque bell turret. It was opened in
1928 by Colonel Ruggles Brise who
anticipated that Braintree had a bright
future and would, in time, become a city.
The other influential manufacturers in
Braintree were the Crittal family (of metal
window fame) who had unequivocally
embraced the Modern Movement at
Silver End. W F Crittal (WFC) was highly
critical of the new town hall, stating that it
was “the wrong building in the wrong
place in the wrong style”. It was built on
the corner of the cattle market, “in the
middle of the local piggery, without a
setting”. The ‘piggery’ was a reference to
the adjoining cattle market, now long
past, and the Fairfield Road
surroundings have improved
considerably since 1928, with a neo-
Georgian post office of 1933, the
Embassy Cinema of 1935 and the
unusual domed library of 1996, designed
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by the county architect. Opposite the
town hall is Corner House, bearing
WJC'’s initials and the date of 1929,
possibly also designed by Vincent
Harris.

WFC also considered that it “was far
beyond future needs or present merits” —
a sentiment with which pruned-down
modern local government might well
sympathise! WFC thought that metal
windows would have been better than
the elegant sash windows in oak, though
this could have been the manufacturer’s
sour grapes. However the building was
not without some concessions to new
technology — the roof is in reinforced
concrete, the sash windows are hung on
bicycle chain rather than sash cord, and
metal windows were used in a few
places (albeit supplied by one of Crittal’s
competitors).

Internally there are a series of panelled
rooms. The council chamber is in oak
with holly inlay, and the ceiling depicts
(somewhat fancifully) scenes from
Braintree’s history, painted by Maurice
Greiffenhagen. The adjoining chairman’s
room is panelled in richly figured walnut,
with lavish plasterwork and a ceiling
painted with an elegant map of Essex by
Henry Rushbury. Other rooms are
panelled in different exotic woods, such
as pear wood and Australian bean wood.
Much of the furniture appears to be
original, traditional and substantially well
made.

Members enjoyed the chance to see a
number of these fine rooms, and to enjoy
another of the Newman'’s fine teas.

Michael Leach

ARTHUR WILSON
(1595-1652)

This historian and playwright served as
the Earl of Warwick's steward at Leez
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Priory, Essex, from 1632 until his death.
His journal, in spite of the puritan title of
Observations of God’s Providence in the
tract of my life, is a vivid and lively
account of his times, and deserves to be
better known. He was inspired to write
this account of his life after hearing a
sermon at Leez on 21 July 1644. This
argued that ‘every Christian ought to
keep a record of his owne actions &
wayes, being full of dangers & hazards;
that God might have the glorie....soe
everie man, though of the meanest
qualitie, may see the hand of the Divine
Goodnes working for him in the many
occurrences of his life.’

His story is an eventful one. He left
Oxford on a snowy February day in 1632
on his journey to Essex to enter the
earl's service. On leading his horse
down Shotover Hill, he encountered a
‘Grecian...in an old, long, black garment,
a great broad beard and a hat whose
brim was of an easterne diameter.” He
spoke ‘in a strange gibberish language’,
and attempts to communicate with him in
English, Latin, French and ltalian all
failed. Wilson deduced that he was a
fraud, and berated him in English as a
‘counterfeit, striving by canting to
deceive ignorant people’, and threatened
to take him to the justice of the peace.
The ‘Grecian’, clearly understanding
Wilson’s drift, pulled him from his horse
and attempted to seize his sword. After a
skirmish, Wilson broke loose and ran off
down the hill to retrieve his horse,
pursued by his assailant. Initially Wilson
was able to keep him at sword’s length,
but he slipped on the snow and again
found the sturdy ‘Grecian’, ‘onely arm'd
with drink’, on top of him. He then
recorded ‘in this extremitie was God's
mercie seene’ as he was able to struggle
free from his assailant who was badly
out of breath from the pursuit. At this
point three shepherds, who had
witnessed Wilson being pulled off his
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horse, arrived and restrained the
‘Grecian’ whom they denounced as a
drunken rogue who ‘had bene drinking
all night at an alehouse upon the side of
the hill.” Wilson, free at last, had to walk
to the next town to retrieve his horse
which had run off in fright.

Wilson described a number of other
encounters with beggars, of whom he
had a poor opinion. Some ‘fastened
bladders to their secret parts, to swell
them into a rupture; others whose
inverted tongues have proclaim’d them
dumbe; some, whose crouches could
hardlie support them, most miraculously
have run away.” He was about to offer
charity to a beggar in Whitehall, haggard
and yellow with jaundice, but ‘looking
somewhat intentively upon his face, |
found it rubb’d with brimstone, or some
other tincture to color his knaverie. My
tongue then being more nimble than my
hand, | tax’d him with it. Hee would not
dure the triall; but left his double dealing;
grew an upright man; & maugre his
disease, ran away from mee.’

In 1635, he fell into a quarrel with Mr
King, one of the Earl of Warwick's
gentlemen, who was armed with a
sword. Wilson, being unarmed, felt he
had to strike the first blow and ‘clos'd
with him & threw him downe.” In the
altercation that followed King's ‘leg snapt
in two peeces, to my regret... | helpt to
carry him to his chamber. Where, | must
confesse, for two monethes hee indurred
a great deale of hardship. In which time |
visited him often, being very sorry that
there was an occasion given & taken,
which redownded so much to his
prejudice’. On King's recovery, Wilson
received a writ and consulted his
advocate. The advice given was that
provocation was no defence and, as he
had struck the first blow and broken the
victim’'s leg, no jury would take his side.
They agreed what would now be called
an out-of-court settlement, with Wilson
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paying King the substantial sum of £35.
In 1637 he accompanied the Earl of
Warwick to the Low Countries and was
present at the second siege of Breda.
Although for him this action was
uneventful, their return journey in August
was not. In a ‘poore, ill-built, & worse
waigh’d, unseasoned mussel-boate’ they
ran into a ferocious three day storm with
adverse winds which prevented their
return to harbour. ‘The dayes, we saw
our danger; yett the nights were more
fearfull. Such cries! Now shee sinkes!
Lord have mercie upon us! Such terrible
noises our feares made, that the wind &
seas were calm to ‘em. For my part a
rough sea & | can never agree; ‘tis a
sickness to me almost to death, when
others are in no danger. | could doe
nothing but lye still, & prepare myself for
a dissolution; my soule was at worke for
life; when my bodie waited to be lodged
in the chambers of death’. Eventually
they made The Hague, but had been
presumed lost by the ship that had
accompanied them. As the winds
continued contrary, Wilson travelled
overland to Flanders but his journey was
complicated by a three week detention in
Bruges, in spite of the necessary papers
for a free passage from the king's
resident at The Hague.

He encountered a different hazard of
travelling in 1642 when he was sent in
the earl's carriage to rescue the
countess Rivers, an adherent to the
Catholic faith, who was reported to be in
danger at Long Melford. There were
difficulties in passing though each Essex
town and village ‘where their black bills &
course examinations put us to divers
demurs’, and safe passage was only
allowed at each place when either
Wilson or the earl's coach was
recognised. At Sudbury he was less
lucky. Though ‘not a man appeared till
we were within the chain,’” the streets
rapidly filled with armed men, and the
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coach, mistaken for that of countess
Rivers, was surrounded by an angry
mob. Wilson himself was taken to be
Lord Rivers. ‘They swarm’d about mee,
& were soe kind as to lay hold on mee.
But | calmely intreated those many
hundreds which incircled mee, to hear
mee speake; which before they had not
patience to doe, the confusion & noise
was so great’ When he was able to
make himself heard above the uproar,
he indicated that he had letters of
authority from the Earl of Warwick which
he would show to the local magistrate.
The mayor, however, said that he did not
know the earl’s hand, and that anyone
could have written the letter. The mob
grew more restless, having ‘an ytching
desire after the coach-horses’, the town
having had many of its animals
requisitioned by the parliamentary army.
Finally he was identified by the town
clerk who had met him once at Leez and
‘the great cloude vanished.” Continuing
his journey to Long Melford was out of
the question, as that town was in ‘so
great a confusion.... that no man
appeared like a gentleman, but was
made a prey to that ravenous crewe.’
However Wilson learnt that the countess
had already escaped from Long Melford,
first to Bury and then to London, so he
was able to return to Leez, deeply
impressed by the ‘great act of Divine
Goodness, that a man | never knewe,
should owne mee in such a time of
extremitie. And that, though | were
incircled, provok’d, seiz’'d on, and readie
to be made a sacrifice to the rage of a
giddie multitude, their madnes was not
soe high as to doe me mischiefe; nor my
fears so great as to betray my
innocence.’

The best known passages relate to
Wilson’s attempts to defend Leez from
the depredations of the cavalier forces
en route to Colchester. This was
preceded by a meeting with the
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Royalists at Chelmsford where he
unsuccessfully attempted to persuade
them to abandon their struggle — ‘there
was too much noise, too many
commanders, & too few obeyers, to
listen to any good advice... in the
confusion | slunke away; lest | should
bee taken in their trapp; & went home to
Leez to secure my lord’s house.’

The Royalist forces at Chelmsford, under
Lord Goring and Sir Charles Lucas, had
news of an approaching parliamentary
party, and prepared to move. They were
short of weapons and Goring sent a note
to Wilson informing him that ‘he would
dine at Leeze & borrow my lord’s armes’.
There was no chance of defending the
house against the Royalists, so Wilson
set about concealing over half the
weapons in the armoury at Leez in other
parts of the house. No sooner was this
done than Goring arrived with Lucas and
30 or 40 officers. They were admitted as
‘their demeanour was very faire & civill.’
This was more than could be said of the
main body of the army who had ‘neither
order nor discipline among them. The
soldiers left their ranks & some fell to
killing of deere, some to taking of horses,
& others clambered over the walls &
came into the house.” They were driven
out at sword point by the officers but,
even so, twenty hogsheads of beer, one
of sack and 100 deer were consumed by
‘our ill guests.... all the scum of the
countrie, & many hundreds of apprentice
boys... who knew not whom to call
commander, nor how to bee obedient.’
Meanwhile  Goring inspected the
armoury and was surprised to find it
more than half empty. Wilson explained
that lord Manchester had taken arms
from it for his regiment, and this
explanation (only partly true) was
accepted. However Sir Charles Lucas
returned later, having apparently learnt
from an informant that more arms were
concealed in the house, and ordered a
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search. This was thwarted by Wilson’s
delaying tactics, at some considerable
personal risk. On a pre-arranged signal,
the housekeeper slipped off with the
keys and concealed himself, and could
not be found subsequently to open the
locked rooms. Meanwhile 100 men were
allowed into the outer courtyard to load
the weapons into carts, but the officers
nearly lost control again when the rabble
threatened to plunder the house. Before
the situation got completely out of
control, and Wilson’'s ruse was
discovered, word was received that the
parliamentary forces were nearby and
the Royalists departed in haste with
some horses, two brass cannon, and
less than half the contents of the
armoury, as well as some barrels of
powder, match and buliets. According to
Lord Goring’s quartermaster-general,
two or three hundred muskets, a similar
number of pikes, some pistols and
carbines, and 60 ‘great saddles’ were
taken. Many of the saddles, however,
had to be left behind for want of
transport.

It is interesting to compare Wilson’s
account with that of the future countess,
Mary Warwick, who was resident at Leez
at this time. If she felt threatened by the
mob, she made no reference to it, and
merely noted that ‘| was upon that
account used so well that, bating some
arms they took, there was not anything
touched, and they stayed only a
dinnering time....” She attributed this
considerate treatment to her friendship
with Lord Goring. Perhaps she did not
know about her steward’s deception, or -
if she did - she may not have approved
of it.

Though Wilson was undoubtedly a
combative individual, his attitude to the
persecution of witches is interesting. He
attended the witch trials in Chelmsford
on 29 July 1645, presided over by the
Earl of Warwick, at which 18 women
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were tried and condemned to death. He
was far from convinced that they were
witches, and wrote that he ‘could see
nothing in the evidence which did
perswade me to think them other than
poore, mellencholie, envious,
mischievous, ill disposed, ill dieted,
atrabilus** constitutions; whose fancies
working by grosse fumes & vapours,
might make the imagination readie to
take any impression; whereby their
anger & envie might vent it selfe into
such expressions, as the hearers of their
confessions (who gave evidence) might
find cause to believe, they were such
people as they blazon'd themselves to
bee.” The Biblical injunction ‘thou shalt
not to suffer a witch to live’ troubled his
conscience considerably, and he wrote
about it at some length. But he was
unable to dissuade himself from his
original view that ‘there is nothing upon
the stage of the world, acted by publique
justice, comes so crosse to my temper,
as putting so many witches to death.’
Wilson comes across as a vigorous and
pugnacious individual, but also a
thoughtful and humane one. His writing
has an immediacy which gives it life and
veracity. One is left with a strong
impression that he would be a
resourceful friend in difficult situations,
but not someone with whom to pick a
fight, or to attempt to dissemble.

Michael Leach

Sources

Croker, T C (ed), 1848 Autobiography of
Mary Countess of Warwick, Percy
Society edition, London

Fell Smith, C, 1901 Mary Rich, Countess
of Warwick 1625-78: her family and
friends, Longmans

Peck, F, 1779 Desiderata Curiosa vol ii,
London

**atrabilus = atrabilious, i.e. black bile or
melancholy
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WALLER’S POOR OPINION
OF ESSEX

Lady Anne Rich, a grand-daughter of
Bess of Hardwick, died in 1638. An ode,
written for the occasion by the poet
Edmund Waller was described by
Charlotte Fell Smith as ‘rather insincere’,
consisting of a mixture of hyperbolic
praise of the deceased and
contemporary  prejudice about the
unhealthiness of the county in which
Lady Anne had taken up residence.
Smith, writing in 1901, wryly noted that
Waller's wish for the swift depopulation
of Essex had not been fulfilled. The
relevant passage of Waller's poem
reads:

May those already curs’d Essexian
plains

Where hasty death and pining sickness
reigns,

Prove all a desert! And none there may
stay

But savage beasts or men as wild as
they!

There the fair light which all our island
grac’d,

Like Hero’s taper in the window plac’d,
Such fate from the malignant air did find
As that exposed to the boisterous wind.

Source

Fell Smith, C, 1901 Mary Rich, Countess
of Warwick 1625-78: her family and
friends, Longmans

RESTORATION OF
ANCIENT WOODLAND

This is not an oxymoron, but a
remarkable success story reported by
the Woodland Trust and based on a ten
year study. In the post-war years, much
ancient woodland was felled and planted
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with non-native conifers, resulting in
monolithic stands of alien trees in the
landscape and the loss of a rich habitat.
Nature, however, has proved resilient
and indigenous species managed to
persist, particularly on the woodland
fringes and in areas where the conifers
failed to establish themselves. As Oliver
Rackham observed, some deciduous
trees, like small leaved lime, are
extremely resistant to attempts to
exterminate them. In addition, seeds
from native species - both trees and
flowering plants - can remain dormant in
the soil for many decades. In 2001 the
Woodland Trust adopted a policy of
gradual clearance of the alien species
from former ancient woodland, and has
observed 100 different stands over the
last ten years. This has shown the
advantage of the gradual clearance of
conifers which maintains shade and
prevents overgrowth by invasive species
such as bramble and bracken. It also
benefits native woodland species, with
regeneration of shade-loving plants such
as bluebell, yellow archangel and
stitthwort. Shade also favours those
insects and lichens that live on dead
wood, by preventing excessive drying
out. On the poor soils of the acidic wet
uplands (such as Wales), regeneration
was considerably slower, and it was
possible to remove the conifers more
quickly. Though the native survivors
were often thin and straggly from being
crowded out by conifers, their crowns
filed out as the non-deciduous trees
were removed, and regeneration of
native trees followed Replanting is quite
unnecessary; a good local example is
Chalkney Wood, near Earl's Colne
where Oliver Rackham noted the
recovery of the lime wood resulting from
what he inelegantly, but memorably,
called ‘un-replanting’.

These results should give heart to
anyone owning a monolithic piece of
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post-war conifer plantation which is now
almost valueless as a timber crop, as
well as being a very poor habitat for wild
life. More information can be found on

the Woodland Trust website at
woodlandtrust.org.uk/research.
Michael Leach

Sources

Broadleaf (the magazine of the
Woodland Trust) no: 75, Autumn 2010,
p.8

ﬁackham, O, 2003 Ancient Woodland:
its history, vegetation & uses in England,
Castlepoint Press

THE JOHN BENSUSAN
BUTT BIOGRAPHICAL
DICTIONARY OF
EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY
COLCHESTER - AND AN
UNRELIABLE SOURCE

As people with an informed interest in
the history and archaeology of Essex,
ESAH members will have a shrewd
critical eye for the accuracy of the
historical sources they use in their
research. Over the years | have been
working on John Bensusan Butit's
collection of historical material on
eighteenth-century Colchester, | have
dealt with all kinds of primary sources
from parish registers, borough records,
rates, newspapers, maps, images and
deeds to private correspondence and
indeed to the visual evidence in the
architecture and street plan of modern
Colchester. Now that the project is
completed and the three volumes of
Colchester People: the John Bensusan
Butt  Biographical  Dictionary  of
Eighteenth-Century  Colchester  are
published (details below) there is one
historical source that stands out as both
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intriguing and very often decidedly
unreliable.
The collection of anecdotes, apparently
writen by Henry Daniel Bland,
Colchester Alderman between 1836 and
1841, seems to be drawn principally
from his teenage recollections of late-
eighteenth century Colchester, though
there are also references to newspaper
obituaries of the 1830s and 40s and a
handed-down story about the mayor of
1723. Bland seems to have grown up in
Colchester, left for London as a young
adult, but returned later. He was created
a Colchester free burgess in 1799. From
1835 he lived in St Mary’'s Terrace. He
died in 1851, aged 79 and is buried at St
Nicholas, Colchester along with William
Bland who had been with the East India
Company (d. 1818 aged 75) and Mary
(d. 1825, aged 80) (see Colchester
People, Vol. 1, pp. 71-2).
It seems likely that Bland left Colchester
under something of a cloud. An
advertisement in the Ipswich Journal of 4
October 1794, contained a public notice
by Philip Havens, then owner of
Donyland Hall, as follows:-:

POACHERS & UNQUALIFIED

PERSONS

Whereas Bland junr of Colchester and
Vince junr of Langham Essex, both
unqualified persons have lately made
improper use of the names of proprietors
and stewards of manors; and have lately
killed game ... near Donyland Hall ... and
Bland junr did ... shoot a hare in the
plantation adjoining the Church.
A reward of FIVE GUINEAS is hereby
offered to anyone who will give
information....
Whether this event was sufficient to
account for Bland’s animus against
Colchester’s late-eighteenth-century
social and political establishment, his
intention in the anecdotes seems to be
to paint the 1790s Borough Corporation
and middle classes as drunken, venal,
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il-educated and self-serving - a
disparaging view from the perspective of
reformed nineteenth-century Borough
government. Bland refers with some
approval to the scandalous 1818
doggerel, The Guild, a product of
Corporation political in-fighting, which
landed its printer, Isaac Marsden, in gaol
for libel.

Many of Bland’s anecdotes are of scant
literary or historical merit. The writing
style lacks distinction; many of the
stories are dull and sometimes
scatological. Some of them are obviously
‘urban myths’. For example, the common
tale of the drunken man who stays at an
inn where the only free bed is in a room
shared by an unknown lady. Creeping
into her bed with lustful intent the hero is
terrified to find that his bedfellow is a
laid-out corpse. Bland attaches this story
to Philip Sansom, cardmaker and
Alderman. Nevertheless, the collection
also includes allusive material about
named individuals which checks out
against other sources, for example the
story of the illegitimate child fathered by
William Sparling, later a very respectable
attorney, or the disappearance from the
local record of hitherto well-regarded
apothecary, Stephen Hooker, which
Bland attributes to his having ‘taking
ways’ and being discovered in the theft
of a watch. There are hints of tensions
over nuances of social and class status
in Napoleonic-era Colchester.
Prosperous tailor Francis Snell bought a
tenanted house on East Hill occupied,
amongst others, by Major Wilshire
Wilson of the Royal Regiment of
Dragoons and sometime Town Adjutant
of Portsmouth. The Major was irritated to
find that his new landlord was a
tradesman, and when Snell called on
him to announce the purchase said
‘Damn me, Sir, you are a purse-proud
fellow.” To which Snell responded ‘Damn
me, Major, none can say that of you.’

11

Winter 2010

Bland also provides insights into the
texture of life in an eighteenth-century
provincial town. For example, in the days
before motor traffic noise, he recalls the
cries of cockle-seller Blind Kibble who
tramped regularly up from Wivenhoe
calling, ‘Salt and good Pinpatches ho!
and could be heard in the centre of the
town coming down Clinghoe Hill.
Likewise the recollection of Joseph
Mitchell, the pieman, who stood in the
market place surrounded by a crowd of
boys tossing coins to win pies and
puddings, also the subject of a drawing
by E. P. Strutt. There are also pictures of
servants (Abigail Arthy, marked by the
smallpox with only one eye) and the poor
(Old Nabb the ‘idiot woman, dumb with
tongue too large for her mouth’ who sat
outside St Leonard’s workshop). St Giles
was the place to go to see the ever-
laughing Petticoat Jack ‘who wore a
petticoat instead of breeches, with a
cocked hat and a round wig’. Sam Smith
had spent some time in Bethlem
Hospital, but ran away to Colchester
where he got by through running
errands. He was known for religious
quotation and ‘made verses and sang
them upon every public occurrence,
preceding every procession and
exhibition.” Bland’s recollection nuances
the historian’'s perspective of the
accounts of civic processions in the
newspapers, knowing that on every
formal occasion Sam Smith was at the
head of the procession, singing his
celebratory songs. If Bland's hostility to
the 1780s and 90s Colchester
Corporation are easy to spot, his
fascination with the eccentric, the mad or
the deformed gives a grotesque twist to
the picture of Colchester's poor that
seeps out of this text. Alongside the
ignorant, drunken Aldermen, they
become a part of a deformed and
disorderly past. Nevertheless, taking a
different perspective, such people would
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have been socially visible in a town of
the size of Colchester, particularly to
adolescent and teenage boys roaming
the streets, as Bland was at that date.
Perhaps especially before the Victorian
workhouses, such individuals were
necessarily part of the ‘street-scape’.
However from a historian’s point of view
such word portraits of the poor are
otherwise hard to find in the sources for
Colchester's eighteenth-century history.
As an author Bland was self-serving and
always ready to sacrifice accurate
recollection to make a good tale.
Nevertheless, taken as a whole, and
read contextually and carefully, there is
historical value in these stories. In recent
years there have been exchanges of
ideas between social history and literary
and cultural studies. Thinking about
culture (less in the sense of ‘high’
culture, but of how ideas, material
artefacts and social practice come
together to shape historical events) and
about how to read even unreliable texts
like Bland’s Anecdotes ‘against the
grain,’ have enriched much recent
historical writing.

Bland’s original manuscript has long
disappeared and John Bensusan Butt
himself knew of the anecdotes through a
manuscript copy he attributes to Charles
Benham. John borrowed the Benham
manuscript in 1964 from the headmaster
of Endsleigh School, and this too seems
to have been lost. There is suggestive
evidence that there were other
anecdotes not included in John's
transcription of the Benham notebook.
For example, historian G. O. Rickwood
cites a story about an Ensign Sturt who
offered to marry one of Borough
Recorder Francis Smythies’ daughters at
a reduced dowry, which seems to be of a
piece with Bland’'s other tales.
Consequently, John's typescript is, to my
knowledge, the only surviving version of
the anecdotes. It is now fairly deeply
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buried in his uncatalogued research
materials deposited in ERO (C905, Box
2). It is a blurred carbon copy on ragged
flimsy paper - the kind of item that
archivists are reluctant to issue or copy.
Not least for this reason, | included a full
transcription of Bland’s Anecdotes as an
appendix in Volume 3 of Colchester
People, where interested readers can be
intrigued, informed and irritated by the
Anecdotes as much as | have been.

Bland’s stories provide only one of many
elements in the over 1,000 biographies
of  eighteenth-century  Colcestrians
included in Colchester People. These
volumes provide information for people
researching specific individuals, families,
trades and locations in the town.
Together, the many entries also build up
a picture of social, political and religious

connections between families,
individuals and neighbourhoods.
Colchester People is just out on
www.lulu.com (available on

Amazon.com in the new year) where you
can also find a collection of John
Bensusan Butt's more extended essays
in historical biography, together entitled
Essex in the Age of Enlightenment.

As an introductory offer, readers of this
newsletter can also purchase, for the
much reduced price of £10, a CD with
electronic copies both of all three
volumes of Colchester People and
Essex.in the Age of Enlightenment. This
CD is not on general distribution but is
available only at this link:-
http://www.lulu.com/content/compact-
disc/colchester-people/9764116

You will need Adobe Acrobat on your
computer to be able to read these files.
This software is available as a free
download.

Shani D’Cruze
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Sources:

Bensusan-Butt, J., S. D’Cruze (ed).,
Essex in the Age of Enlightenment:
Essays in Historical Biography (2008)
Cooper, J. et al, The Borough of
Colchester, Vol. 9, The Victoria County
History of Essex, (Woodbridge, 1994),
available online at  www.british-

history.ac.uk)
D’Cruze, S., A Pleasing Prospect: Social

Change and Urban Culture in
Eighteenth-Century Colchester (Hertford,
2008)

D'Cruze, S. (ed), Colchester People: the
John Bensusan Butt Biographical
Dictionary of Eighteenth-Century
Colchester, 3. Vols (2010)

COLLECTING
AUTOGRAPH LETTERS

Anyone  familiar  with Elizabeth
Ogborne’s first (and only) volume of her
History of Essex of 1814 will recall a
feature not found in other Essex
topographical works — engraved portraits
of local worthies accompanied by
facsimiles of their signatures. Thomas
Cromwell went a stage further in his
History of Colchester of 1826, in which
signed copies of three documents
relating to the siege of the town in 1648
were reproduced with great accuracy —
presumably by the laborious process of
making copper engravings from the
originals.

The activities of Richard Bull of Chipping
Ongar and his contemporaries, who
were prodigious collectors of engraved
portraits, were described in the Spring
2010 Newsletter. What is less well
known is that autographed letters were
also collected, and that this had
developed into a formidable obsession
by the early years of the C19. Such
letters were often mounted and bound
up by their enthusiastic collectors as
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additional material in printed books, in a
similar way to the portraits that were
added by the grangerisers. Only a single
document from each writer was required,
so the process was quite distinct from
the manuscript collections formed by
antiquarians. Frequently the letter was
trimmed to fit the page, or even reduced
to the signature itself, so that its
usefulness to an antiquarian as a
document was destroyed.

Munby describes the history of the
collection of the holograph, already
established in the C17. An early
exemplar was the Suffolk antiquary, Sir
Simonds D’Ewes, who (in 1638) wrote a
letter to Elizabeth of Bohemia, soliciting
a letter in her husband’s handwriting
and, in exchange, sent her a letter from
the duke of Brunswick. Other C17
antiquarians made similar collections,
partly as a means of establishing the
authenticity of other documents. Samuel
Pepys prepared a volume for his own
use entitled ‘Repetorium Chiro-Typicum
containing My Collection of Signes-
Manuall’ in which one of his secretaries
made accurate facsimiles of signatures
of individuals who were of importance in
his naval correspondence. If it was
possible for his secretary to make
perfect copies, one wonders how useful
this book was for the detection of forged
signatures!

During the C18 it was largely
antiquarians who collected autograph
letters, though there was a growing
interest in including them in general
collections of curiosities. Horace
Walpole, for example, acquired letters
for his vast collection, more from a
fascination with the writer than from the
importance of their content. This practice
evolved further after the publication of
James Granger's Biographical History of
England in 1769. The enthusiasts who
added engraved portraits to printed
volumes began to add autograph letters
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in decorative mounts, often pruned to fit
the page. By the early decades of the
C19 the collection of these letters
rivalled the mania for engraved portraits,
and led to the fragmentation of many
MSS collections. However, by that date,
letters were appreciated for their
contents as well as their signatures, and
it became much less common to crop
them up to fit. Neither of the two most
assiduous collectors (William Upcott and
Dawson Turner) have Essex
connections but their obsession was
phenomenal. Upcott, for example,
compiled nearly three hundred bound
volumes of letters from individuals, as
well as an unknown number of printed
books, extra-illustrated with handwritten
material. Though he sold a great deal of
this material in his lifetime, it has been
estimated that there were still about
32,000 letters in his possession at his
death in 1845.

Anyone trying to trace an early collection
of manuscripts must live in the fear that
the grangerisers got there first, cutting
up and scattering large amounts of
material. There seems to be no evidence
that Richard Bull of Chipping Ongar, ‘that
veritable virtuoso of grangerising’,
collected autograph letters as well as
engraved portraits, but doubtless there
were other Essex collectors.

Michael Leach
Source

Munby, A N L, 1962 The Cult of the
Autograph Letter, Athlone Press

BOOK REVIEW

Robert Nightingale: the life and times of
an Essex artist, by Hugh Scantlebury,
2007. 68pp, numerous colour
illustrations. Available from the author
(hmscant@parvilles.com or telephone
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01279 731228). £10 plus £1.50 UK
postage & packing.

The opening sentence of this self-
published book is somewhat disarming:
‘It is, surprisingly, quite difficult to find out
much about the life of Robert
Nightingale, the artist, of Maldon, in
Essex, who died in 1895". For a start,
the year of his birth is uncertain:
commonly given as 1815, it might have
been 1817, but is more likely to have
been 1816, the year in which he was
baptised, at Eltham, in Kent. He was
orphaned at the age of eight, raised by
aunts, and apprenticed to J. Stannard,
painter and decorator, of Maldon. Thus
he qualifies as an Essex artist. He has
left us some watercolours and prints of
Maldon and neighbourhood, and in 1844
he did some work for the Plume Library,
cleaning their portrait of Archbishop
Laud, and painting the beautifully
illuminated Rules that are still displayed
there. The Library has his bill and
receipt for £8. But we don't know what
Nightingale looked like, as no
photograph or other likeness of him has
been identified, and no sketchbooks,
notebooks, or other memorabilia appear
to have survived.

The reason why this obscurity is
surprising is that Nightingale enjoyed
quite a reputation in his lifetime as a
painter that extended well beyond
Essex. He specialised in portraits of
prize cattle for Essex farmers, of hunters
and hounds for the local gentry (notably
Charles du Cane of Braxted Park and
W.P. Honywood of Marks Hall), and of
racehorses for the country’s leading
owners, including at least two Derby
winners, Hermit and Cremorne, who won
in 1867 and 1872 respectively. Some of
his work tends towards the sentimental
(e.g. ‘Children with pets’), but in this he
was no worse than many of his
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contemporaries, and a painting like
‘Decoy Ponds at Grange Farm’ (possibly
Grange Farm, Steeple) is a realistic
portrayal of trapping wild duck that tells
us much about this aspect of nineteenth-
century rural life.

From rather sparse material Hugh
Scantlebury has compiled an interesting
and well-illustrated account  of
Nightingale’s life and work, and by
keeping an eye on auction house
catalogues over the years he has
managed to assemble quite a collection
of photographs of Nightingale’s
paintings, most of which have remained
in private hands. Mr Scantlebury has
done Nightingale a great service, that is
not undeserved, and this little book will
be of interest to a wide range of people.

James Bettley

HISTORICAL
ASSOCIATION, ESSEX
BRANCH

Meetings will be held in The Link, Trinity
Methodist Church, Chelmsford.

Followed by tea/coffee and biscuits

Free parking at the Church or in the
Essex County Council car-park opposite
Visitors and prospective members
warmly welcome - a £2 donation is
requested.
www.essexinfo.net/essex-branch-of-
historical-association/

PROGRAMME 2011

SATURDAY, 5™ FEBRUARY 2011;
Women and Work in the Middle Ages.
[ilustrated]; Anne Curry, Head of the
School of Humanities and Professor of
Medieval History, Southampton
University, and President of the
Historical Association.
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SATURDAY, 5™ MARCH 2011; The
Strategy of the American Civil War,
Professor Brian Holden Reid, King’s
College, London.
SATURDAY, 9™ APRIL  2011;
Colchester’s Roman Circus: Past and
Future, Philip Crummy, Director of the
Colchester Archaeological Trust.

SATURDAY, 7™ MAY 2011; Witchcraft
- How 'bad' were the East Anglian
Witch-Hunts of 1645-47? Mid-
Seventeenth Century English Witch
Persecution in Comparative Context,
Alison Rowlands, Senior Lecturer in
European History, University of Essex:

BOOKBINDING

It is not easy to find a professional
bookbinder who is a real enthusiast for
the repair of damaged and battered
leather or cloth bound books. While the
Society cannot recommend any
particular binder, a number of members
have been very pleased with work done
by George Smith of Brentwood. He is not
on the phone, but works at Bookend,
whose premises are in a yard hidden
behind 40 Kings Road, Brentwood CM14
4DW. Clients are welcome to discuss the
repair of their valued books on weekdays
between 10am and 4pm (closed
Thursday afternoon).

WILLIAM BYRD FESTIVAL

St Peter & St Paul Church, Stondon
Massey. 7 -15 May 2011

Having retiled the nave roof this year,
more work needs to be done to St Peter
& St Paul Church and its surroundings.
In order to raise funds to retile the porch
and create a new Garden of
Remembrance in the churchyard (which
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will cost over £5000) members of the
local congregation are organising a
‘William Byrd Festivall next May to
commemorate the village’s famous
Elizabethan composer. The Festival will
be held over two weekends at the
church.

Leading the list of artists will be Richard
Turbet, an expert in the life and work of
William Byrd, and the Stondon Singers,
a local Choir who since their formation in
1968 have specialised in the music of
the renaissance composer and his
contemporaries. Richard has chosen as
his theme ‘William Byrd: His Essex
Years’. The event will be given twice on
Saturday 7 May: a matinee at 4.00pm
and evening performance at 7.30pm.

Then on Saturday 14 May at 7.30pm, the
Writtle Singers conducted by Christine
Gwynn will give a concert of mainly
Byrd’s music. Having heard the Writtle
Singers perform an evening of words
and music remembering the events of
the Gunpowder Plot this will be an
occasion not to miss.

Tickets for both events go on sale in
early January priced £12.50 (children
£6), from the William Byrd Festival, c/o
Church Office, The Vicarage, Church
Street, Blackmore, Ingatestone, Essex.
CM4 ORN. (Cheques payable to “St
Peter & St Paul PCC". Please enclose
SAE).

On the two Sundays, church services will
also be on a Byrd theme. On 8 May at
9.00am Stondon Church will have a
Book of Common Prayer Morning
Service featuring recorded music by
Byrd, with singing supported by the
church music group, Jubilate. Then on
15 May, again at 9.00am (repeated at
11.00am at the Priory Church of St
Laurence Blackmore), there will be a
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Service of the Top 10 Favourite Hymns,
as voted by the people of our two
parishes and beyond. Why? Because
Byrd said that “Since singing is such a
good thing, | wish every man would
learne to sing” — that includes women as
well!

For more information on the Festival visit
www.williambyrdfestival.blogspot.com.

Andrew Smith

VOLUNTEERS WANTED
TO HELP WITH A SURVEY
OF ESSEX WINDMILLS

Over the next few months the County
Council is undertaking a thematic
Industrial Survey of Windmills. We are
actively seeking volunteer help with this
project which aims to specifically identify
standing windmills and windmill remains
in the County for planning purposes. If
you are interested in helping please
contact me for further details on
david.morgans @essex.gov.uk or on the
address or phone numbers given below.

David Morgans

Mills Support Officer

Historic Environment Branch

Essex County Council

County Hall (E3)

Chelmsford, Essex CM1 1QH
telephone: 01245 437677

mobile: 07766 364846

e-mail: david.morgans @ essex.qgov.uk
http://www.essex.gov.uk/Activities/Herita

ge/Pages/Mills-in-Essex.aspx




MEMBERSHIP - Subscriptions due on January 1st each year
Single Member - £20

Family Membership - £22

Student - £9

Associate Member - £9

Institutions - £25

NAMES AND ADDRESSES

Secretary Membership Secretary Librarian

Dr. M. Leach Miss Ann Turner Dr Jane Pearson

2 Landview Gardens 1 Robin Close

Ongar Great Bentley e-mail

Essex CM5 9EQ Essex CO7 8QH DrJanePearson@hot
mail.com

Tel. 01277 363106 Tel. 01206 250894

Enquiries about delayed or missing publications and about the supply of recent back
numbers should be addressed to the Secretary.

APPEAL FOR THE PUBLICATION AND RESEARCH FUND (PRF)

This fund replaced the Publications Development Fund in 2004. It supports the
publication of articles in each Volume of Essex Archaeology and History as well as
Occasional Papers. Donations are placed into an INALIENABLE account, which cannot
be spent. It is the Interest thereon which is distributed by awards granted by our
COUNCIL. As at December 2009 the projected value of the fund (including interest)
stands at £47,715

Donations payable to: The Essex Society for Archaeology and History
By: Cash/Cheques; Gift Aid Schemes; “In Memoriam” Donations; Bequests by Wills
Donations of acceptable books

Please address enquiries to:
Bill Abbott, 45 Cambridge Road, Colchester CO3 3NR
Tel. 01206 369948 or e-mail bill.abbott @ btinternet.com

DATA PROTECTION ACT

In order to run the Society it is necessary to keep paper and electronic records of
members’ names and addresses. It is the Society’s policy to keep members’ names,
addresses, telephone numbers and subscription status only. This information is
disclosed to no one, inside or outside the Society, other than those officers and
members of Council who need it in order to run the organisation.

Members do have the right to refuse to allow any information about them to be stored on
computer, and they should let me know if this is their wish. However, we hope that this
note will reassure members that the very limited information held about them is secure
and will not be used for any purpose other than the efficient running of the Society.
Anyone requiring further details can contact me, or the Newsletter Editor.

Michael Leach
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ADDRESS NO LATER THAN 8 JULY 2011

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the contributors and not
necessarily those of the Society or its officers.

Cover illustration:
lllustration from a Victorian gentleman’s scrapbook.

The scrapbook includes a drawing of a wall painting in the church at Great Chishall, a
village described in Kelly’s Directory of Essex (1890) as being “on the Cambridgeshire
border”. (It was transferred out of Essex in 1895.)

The gentlemen (CKP) described it as a ‘Fresco painting of the Martyrdom of St
Laurence discovered about ten years ago on the South Wall of the North Aisle of Gt.
Chishall Church. It is now (1860) obliterated”.

See page 9 for full article
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From The President

It is with incredulity that | contribute this
last communication as President of your
Society and, as a consequence, | am left
pondering where the last three years
have disappeared to? It has been an
enormous honour and privilege to serve
in this capacity especially with our
foundations stretching back to 1852. It is
people who predominantly make a
worthy organisation and in this respect it
has been a pleasure working with so
many  thoroughly  pleasant and
distinguished individuals. Of course, it
would be quite invidious to single out
specific personalities and, in any event,
space certainly does not permit!
However, | am exercising my prerogative
to pay a tribute to the immediate past-
President and our principal officers.
Firstly, my predecessor, Stan Newens,
who despite an onerous workload,
continues to support the Society in every
way possible which has certainly
enabled me to take advantage of his
experience and wise council. | am
delighted that Stan’s commitment and
enthusiasm has been rewarded with his
appointment as a Holding Trustee
ensuring that the Society will continue to
benefit on a permanent basis. Michael
Leach has been a tower of strength
being totally dependable in every
respect. Bill Abbot who, in his quiet and
scrupulous manner, deals so admirably
with the financial affairs of the Society.
Finally, Chris Starr, who has worked
resolutely (supported by Helen Walker
and others) to produce a learned and
balanced Transactions whilst entirely
eradicating the arrears in producing this
publication. It is with enormous pleasure
that | am able to report that Chris Starr’s
erudition and scholarship was recently
recognised with his election as a Fellow
of the Society of Antiquaries of London.

Spring 2011

The Annual General Meeting to be held
at the University of Essex on Saturday,
18™ June will signify the end of my time
in office. It is at this point that Mark
Davies will succeed me as the 38th
President of the Society. This is a most
welcomed development for Mark is
steeped in Essex archaeology and
history. He brings with him a wealth of
experience which will be enormously
beneficial to the development and
smooth running of the Society. Mark will
also be able to share the distinction of
being of one of only five people to have
served as both President of this Society
and also the Essex Archaeological and
Historical Congress (“Essex Congress”).
| refer, of course, to Sir William Addison,
Dr Frederick (Derick) Emmison, the late
William Raymond Powell and myself.
Mark’s professional career commenced
as an Archaeological Assistant at the
Grosvenor Museum at Chester during
which time he contributed a short section
on Roman Chester to the Pevsner
Cheshire volume. In 1970 he emigrated
to Essex upon his appointment as
Assistant Curator of the Colchester
Museum where he served as deputy to
David Clarke (see obituary in the
recently published 2009 Transactions,
volume 40, pp.vii-ix). He eventually took
early retirement in 1998 having served
the last fifteen months as Acting Head of
Museum and Visitor Services. Mark has
held numerous posts throughout his
career including holding office as the
Secretary (1980-6) and Chairman (1991-
4) of the Society of Museum
Archaeologists. He was Company
Secretary and is currently Chairman of
the Colchester Archaeological Trust and
has served as Chairman on three
occasions (1975-8, 1991-4 and 2001-4)
of the Colchester Archaeological Group.
Mark has recently been very active in the
negotiations to safeguard the future of
Tymperleys (the clock museum at
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Colchester which was formerly the home
of William Gilberd, scientist and
physician to Elizabeth I).

Ann Newman and Pat Ryan, our
Programme Secretary and Excursions
Secretary, have indicated that they wish
to stand down from their respective
posts. Both have worked tirelessly for
the Society over a considerable period of
time and thoroughly deserve to enjoy
their retirement! Ann, together with her
husband Ken, has been meticulous in
organising the Society’s varied and
interesting programme. | personally have
benefited greatly from their
organisational skills — not least the most
enjoyable Morant Lunches which | have
attended during my period in office and,
of course, the highly successful
presentation of the Letters Patent at
Ingatestone Hall last May. These
occasions would not have been possible
without their significant contribution. The
wonderful teas which have become such
a feature of Society events owe their
origin to Ann. Pat Ryan has been equally
punctilious in taking responsibility for
bookings which is a highly necessary
task to ensure the smooth running of
events. They will be greatly missed. You
will find with this mailing a letter from
Michael Leach appealing for volunteers.
Do please consider putting yourself
forward.

| am delighted to announce that the
preparation of the Index Volume
covering volumes 21 to 30 (1990-9) has
reached an advanced stage of
production. It is envisaged that it will be
possible to despatch this publication
shortly. Our Indexer, Peter Gunn, is now
proceeding to complete the indexing of
volumes 31 to 40 (2000-9) in order to
ensure completion of the entire Third
Series. |

| wish this fine Society all the very, best
for the future and pledge to continue my
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support in any way possible. Thank you
for electing me as your President.

H. Martin Stuchfield

Essex Place-Names Project

For several years Volunteers have been
recording Place- and Field-names from
old documents and maps, many in the
Essex Record Office, onto a county-wide
database, and making this freely
available to researchers on the internet.
Essex is one of the first counties to
coordinate such a Project and one of the
first to put it onto an electronic version
on the web. To date over half of the
parishes in Essex have significant
entries, but all parishes are represented
at least to some degree.

The searchable database
www.essex.ac.uk/history/esah/essexplac
enames is of use to local historians,

genealogists, linguists and
archaeologists. For those seeking
information  about family history,

landowners and tenants are recorded
against the places and fields they
occupied. Kilns, mills, maltings and inns
no longer extant are preserved in the
names of fields and roads. How farmers
used their land and the productivity of
individual fields is recorded in field-
names. Past practices such as the
textile, brick-making and pottery
industries can be traced by residual
names. Previous sites of mill-mounds,
sometimes reusing prehistoric barrows,
can be identified even though the terrain
has been flattened by subsequent
ploughing.

More Recorders are needed to record
their parishes. Further information is
available from the Project Publicity
Officer paul.mardon@btinternet.com.

James Kemble
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Victoria County History of
Essex: the current position

It is now well known that Essex County
Council has ended its 60 year long
financial support for the Victoria County
History of Essex. The loss of the grant
(the major element of support for the
salaries of the editor and assistant
editor) has necessitated a complete
reorganisation of the finances and
management of the VCH Essex. With
effect from the New Year, the following
new structure has emerged through
discussions between the Victoria County
History of Essex Appeal Fund and
London University's Institute of Historical
Research (the body responsible,
nationally, for the Victoria County
Histories).

The principal change involves the
Appeal Committee taking over the role
as manager of the VCH Essex; the
function fulfiled before the move to
Essex University by the old County
Committee. The editor and assistant
editor, hitherto on the staff of the IHR,
will now become freelance contractors,
working to the Appeal Committee on
VCH research. They will still be called
editor and assistant editor and their
formal linkage to the IHR is likely to be
retained by their designation as
Associate Fellows. Under the new
arrangements, the Appeal Committee
will commission VCH research from its
contractors; the IHR acting to verify the
quality of the research.

The key problems for the VCH Essex
and for the effective continuance of the
research programme are, firstly, the
willingness of the editors to continue to
work within the new and more tightly-
constrained financial framework and,
secondly, the necessity for the Appeal
Fund to continue to raise sufficient
money through its donors and research
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grants to sustain an acceptable pace of
progress in the hard times for charities
which lie ahead.

The good news is that Volume Xl (the
Clacton volume) is almost complete and
that earlier work on Volume XII means
that almost 60% of that volume, too, is in
rough draft. The process of continuous
publication on the internet also ensures
that, even if the rate of completion of
future volumes slows, the contents are
available from soon after the completion
of drafts. For the Diamond Jubilee of the
VCH Essex, therefore, to be held on
Chelmsford on the 8th of October, this
year, there will stil be much to be
cheerful about.

Future funding, of course, is the key
issue for our survival. Existing funds will
allow work to continue for around two
years at, perhaps, 30% of earlier years
and a major fund-raising effort to be
launched at the Jubilee in October is
hoped to continue to maintain that rate
for a further two years. After that,
perhaps the national economic sun will
begin to shine again!

A further major development in the work
of the VCH, nationally and locally, has
been the introduction of volunteers into
the research process. Pioneered in
Essex through the Clacton project,
writing is also under way in Newport and
Southend. Although a formidable
challenge where pre-modern history is
concerned, such a development has the
benefit that it forges closer links between
the community and the VCH. In Essex
as elsewhere, for economic reasons
alone, it may become an essential
element of the research programme.

The Appeal Fund is determined to
continue to guide the VCH Essex
through the difficult years ahead but it
will also need all those concerned for
and interested in the history of our
County to recognise that we are now
alone in our work. Perhaps, knowing the
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fickleness of public funding, that may not
be the worst outcome!

Geoffrey Hare
Chairman, Victoria County History of
Essex Appeal Fund

Colchester Botanic Garden

The post medieval concept of a botanic
garden developed from the medieval
monastic gardens which grew plants for
culinary and medicinal use. The need for
medicinal herbs did not disappear with
the dissolution, and the Barber
Surgeon’s Hall in the city of London
probably had a physic garden in the mid
C16 (and perhaps earlier), and certainly
had one by 1597. The earliest post-
medieval foundation was in Oxford which
received a gift of £5000 from Sir Henry
Danvers (1573-1644) to establish a
physic garden for the university, ‘for the
glorification of God and the
advancement of learning’. These good
intentions became mired in practical
difficulties as, after the acquisition of the
site and the completion of its
surrounding walls in 1633, there was no
money left to pay for its running costs.
The first curator, Jacob Bobart senior
(1599-1680), was appointed in 1642 but
was not paid by the university for seven
years. He was obliged to make ends
meet by selling produce from the garden.
He was succeeded by his son, Jacob
Bobart  junior  (1641-1719)  who
subsequently became professor of
botany, but after his death the garden fell
into decline. It was rescued by a legacy
in 1728 which endowed the chair of
botany, on the condition that the
university contributed to the upkeep of
the botanic garden.

All the early botanic gardens were
associated either with universities (for
example Edinburgh in 1670, Cambridge
in 1762), or with professional
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organisations (the Chelsea physic
garden established by the Society of
Apothecaries in 1673). In the eighteenth
century the Royal Botanic Gardens at
Kew evolved as a royal pleasure ground,
but by the middle of the century had
acquired a notable collection of rare or
unusual plants. By 1837 it was in serious
decline and, after public pressure, was
acquired by the state in 1841. The
difficulties experienced at Oxford and
Kew were not unusual — Chelsea nearly
failed in the early eighteenth century
and, at Cambridge, the university’s
botanic garden had to be re-established
on a new site in 1831 by professor
Henslow.

In addition to these prestigious gardens
— all now well known due to their survival
to the present day — there were an
unknown number of private physic
gardens established by provincial
physicians. These were transient and
remain largely unrecorded. One such
was noted in Ipswich in 1722 by Daniel
Defoe. It belonged to Dr William Beeston
(c1672-1733) who was ‘exquisitely
skilled in botanic knowledge, so has he
not only been very diligent, but
successful too, in making a collection of
rare and exotic plants, such as are
scarce to be equalled in England.” Rev.
William Beeston Coyte (1740-1810) who
was presumably related to Dr Beeston,
also practised as a physician in Ipswich.
He may have inherited Beeston’s
garden, and in 1796 he published a
‘systematic enumeration’ of the plants in
his own botanic garden.

The early nineteenth century saw the
growth of provincial scientific and
philosophical societies, a number of
which established botanic gardens to
further their intellectual aims, and to
provide outdoor relaxation for their
members. Examples include Liverpool in
1803, Hull in 1811, Bury St Edmunds in
1821, and Sheffield in 1836. They were
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funded in a number of different ways —
through  donations from  wealthy
supporters, from paid-up subscribers
and even from the issue of shares. Most
of them ran into difficulties of one sort or
another during the nineteenth century. In
industrial areas, potential supporters
were lost when they moved away from
the inner city to the more salubrious
suburbs. Free access to the newly laid
out municipal parks reduced the need for
privately funded open spaces. Another
direct threat was the rise in value of
building land which made the sites of
struggling botanic garden very attractive
to developers. Many botanic gardens
faced difficulties in generating enough
income to cover the running costs, even
in large cities. Survival in small provincial
towns was more problematical.

Colchester’s botanic garden was typical
of early nineteenth century creations and
was established in 1823 by the
Colchester and Essex Botanical and
Horticultural ~ Society. It had no
association with a university or
professional organisation and, like most
of its contemporaries, was run by a
locally elected committee, many of
whom were active in other aspects of the
town’s commercial and intellectual life.
Its vice-patrons and vice-presidents were
drawn from the landed gentry of Essex,
the Bishop of London and a number of
local parliamentary representatives
(including George Canning, MP for
Harwich). It is curious that none of the
honorary officers or the elected
committee appear to have been noted
for outstanding botanical or horticultural
expertise, and nothing is known about
the background of the first curator, Mr
Affleck, who must have had an important
role in the establishment of the garden.
However the committee clearly realised
that there would be difficulties in setting
up a botanic garden  without
endowments in a provincial town, and
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from the outset the venture was to be
subsidised - and ultimately (it was
hoped) fully financed - by combining it
with a nursery garden to bring in
additional income. One wonders what
Edward Auston (1796-1877), whose
nursery garden was a stone’s throw
away on the other side of the town wall,
must have felt about the close proximity
of this rival.

An 82 acre site was leased for 21 years
on part of the Greyfriars site within the
old town walls which conveniently
formed the northern and eastern
boundaries. Morant’s map of Colchester
in his 1748 history of the town shows
that this area had already been laid out
as square plots planted with trees. By
1818 there was a more formal
arrangement of large rectangular beds
with a central circular plot. When the
botanic garden was laid out, this layout
was completely changed with curved
intersecting paths, and the addition of
greenhouses, an office for the curator
and various outbuildings. Two existing
ponds (alleged to be former monastic
fishponds, though they are not shown on
the 1748 or 1818 maps) were joined
together to provide a large pond for
aquatics, and most of the plants were to
be arranged in Linnaean classification,
with a few illustrative of ‘Jussieu’s
continental system’. Trees and shrubs
were to be planted ‘to produce the most
agreeable and ornamental effect’. It is
interesting that the physic garden
tradition still lingered on, as there was to
be provision for cultivating medicinal
plants. Early accounts of the garden
emphasized the pleasing aspect of the
site, and delightful distant views which it
afforded. There were two groups of
members. A maximum of 200 proprietors
paid a guinea a year plus a further
guinea to purchase one ‘share’, or pro
rata up to a maximum of ten shares.
These shares could be sold or passed
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on, but only with the approval of the
committee who met monthly. There were
to be no new proprietors after July 1825,
by which time it was probably hoped that
the garden would be financially self-
sufficient from its plant sales. Ordinary
subscribers also paid a guinea a year
which entitled them, their families (and
their non-resident visitors) to free
admission. Other non-residents could be
admitted for 2s 6d a day, but this would
be refunded if they purchased more than
10s worth of plants.

The committee’s minutes have not been
found, so little is known about the
problems that faced the Colchester
botanic garden. In 1844 there was a
major threat to its existence by the
Colchester Port and Junction Railway
which proposed to run a line in a brick-
arched cutting immediately north of, and
parallel to, the High Street. This would
have cut the garden into two pieces and
would have destroyed everything that
had been achieved. That this railway
was never built must be an immense
relief to those who love the town and its
archaeology, and doubtless the
committee were relieved that this threat
did not materialise. At this time Edward
Warmington was listed as ‘occupier’.
Possibly he was the resident curator and
he may have been related to the family
of F W Warmington & Co who were
Colchester tanners and leather
merchants in the 1850s.

It is generally believed that the finances
of the botanic garden were in poor shape
by this time. A newspaper advertisement
of May 1849 announced the ascent of
Green’s “New Victoria” balloon from the
botanic gardens; this may have been to
raise funds. The Essex County Standard
of 19 September 1851 reported the
closure of the gardens. Within six weeks,
the minutes of the Sanitary Committee
noted the proposed allotment of the site
of the botanic gardens for building, and
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new estate roads (now Roman Road and
Castle Road) were laid out soon
afterwards and a variety of houses were
built over the next few decades. In about
1854 the Colchester Monthly Meeting of
the Society of Friends agreed to buy
plots 1, 2 and 3 (adjoining what was then
named Garden Terrace at the northern
end of the site) for use as a burial
ground, together with another plot with a
40 foot frontage immediately to the
south, fronting onto Roman Road. The
necessary permission was obtained from
the Secretary of State and the first burial
took place in 1857. In 1864 it was
suggested that part of the Roman Road
plot could be used for building, but it was
let as a garden instead and was not built
on until it was finally sold in 1956. In
1879 a strip of land between the
northern boundary of the burial ground
and the town wall had become an
eyesore, and the Friends purchased this
and planted it with trees. This piece was
not used for burials.

Today the area is a mature Victorian
housing development with the Quaker
cemetery in the north east corner, and
nothing remains to suggest that the area
had been a botanic garden. Many other
provincial botanic gardens also had a
short life. A combination of high running
costs, and the pressure to use the land
more profitably to house the growing
population of Victorian towns, sealed
their fate. Even those which survived into
the twentieth century, such as Sheffield,
came perilously close to closure after
prolonged periods of inadequate
investment and public spending cuts.

Michael Leach

Sources :
Cooper, J (ed), 1994 VCH Essex: Borough
of Colchester, ix, OUP

Coyte, W B, 1796 Hortus Botanicus
Gippovicensis
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Cromwell, T, 1826 History & Description of
the Ancient Town & Borough of Colchester
Cromwell, T K, 1818 Excursions in the
County of Essex, London

Defoe, D, 1722 Tour through the Eastern
Counties of England (1949 edition, Ipswich)
Desmond R, 1977 Dictionary of English &
Irish Botanists & Horticulturalists, London
Fitch S H G, 1962 Colchester Quakers,
Colchester

Morant, P, 1748 History and Antiquities of
Colchester, London

Proposal & plan for Colchester Port &
Junction Railway 1844. ERO Q/RUm 2/15
Wright, T, 1831 History & Topography of the
County of Essex, London

Saffron Walden Museum
Society

This society meets on Monday evenings
at 8pm in St Mary’s Parish Rooms,
Museum Street, Saffron Walden and non
members may attend on payment of £3
per meeting. The remaining meetings
this year are:

13 June: ‘Two Hundred Years of
Wedgewood’ by Dr Julia Poole, former
Keeper of Applied Art, Fitzwilliam
Museum, Cambridge.

12 September: ‘The Home Front: Essex
1914-18’ by William Tyler.

10 October: ‘Missionary Collecting &
British Society: What was George Benet
doing in Saffron Walden?" by Chris
Windfield, Hon Associate, Pitt Rivers
Museum, Oxford.

14 November: ‘Lost on the Somme’ by
Julian Whybra.

New Insights into Tree
Ring Dating

Tree ring dating (or dendrochronology)
has been with us for a number of years.
The science has helped historians
understand and sometimes reinterpret
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the history of an individual building, and
its context within a community. This was
the case at Blackmore a few years ago
when Dr Martin Bridge was
commissioned by the Parochial Church
Council (with 100% grant support) to
attempt to date the bell tower of the
Priory Church of St Laurence.

The result, a construction date of 1400
or, at most, two years’ afterwards, was
much earlier than anyone had previously
thought and caused the understanding of
the building’s history to change.
Historians learned that the bell tower
was almost contemporary with the
construction of the roof over the nave
and chancel (1381 — 97: being the date
range of the 16 painted shields on the
ceiling) and the likely piercing of a north
door for parishioners’ use when the great
west door was stopped up.

Almost seven years after the dating work
was completed, Dr Martin Bridge gave a
talk to the High Country History Group
(1) on his specialist topic. With every
new and successful commission a
greater understanding of timber use can
be gleaned. Recent research has
indicated the possibility that the timbers
to build the ‘Mary Rose’ could have been
sourced from many locations, from
across southern England to the Welsh
Marches. This makes stronger the
discussion set forward in Dr Bridge’s
2004 report (2) on Blackmore’s bell
tower that it's oak may have not
necessarily been sourced locally.

“The very poor timber matching between
the individual samples is remarkable,
and again underlines the idea that timber
may have been gathered from several
woodlands, although the matching
characteristics of the site chronology
suggest the sources would have been
relatively local. It is also of note that
many of the sites with which the tree-ring
series match best have monastic /
ecclesiastical connections, matching is
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less good with close secular sites (for
example Little Braxted, Dunmow, Good
Easter and Fyfield, all within a 25km
range).”

Martin Bridge also talked about the work
done on St Andrew’s Church at
Greensted. The results confirmed the
date of construction to be much later
than had been thought, destroying the
age-old legend that it had been used as
a resting place for St Edmund’s body in
1013. That said it remains one of the
most ancient buildings in the county.

As the body of evidence grows on this
subject, further insights may still be
realised.

Andrew Smith
1. The High Country History Group meets

during the winter months at Toot Hill,
Stanford Rivers. For more information

contact me.
2. M. C. Bridge (2004). Oxford
Dendrochronology ~ Laboratory  Report

2004/4. The Tree-Ring Dating of the Bell
Tower, Priory Church of St Laurence,
Blackmore, Essex. Unpublished but
available from Andrew Smith if interested.

E-mail: apsblackmore @btinternet.com

A Day’s Elephant Hunting
in Essex

The first catalogue of the Society’s
library was published in 1895 but, by
1923, this was very out of date and a
new catalogue was printed. This was
only issued to those members who had
directly subscribed to its publication and
it was issued as a hardback volume,
attractively bound in blue cloth with the
Society’s seal stamped in gold on the
front board. Printed catalogues, of
course, were impossible to update
without: regular supplements, and were
superceded by card indexes, and now by
electronic listing. It is unlikely that
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anyone needs to be convinced of the
immense advantages of the on-line
catalogue which can be easily updated,
as well searched from any computer in a
variety of ways.

The 1923 catalogue is a relic from a
different era but nevertheless gives an
interesting insight into what the Society
had collected over the first 70 years of its
life. It is arranged alphabetically, and
included authors’ names, journal titles
and some (but not all) of the book titles.
The printed pages are bound alternately
with blank ones to enable members to
pencil in additional entries. Some 40
printed pages of the catalogue deal with
‘Manuscripts and MS Collections’, a
large section of which (25 pages) is
devoted to the Morant manuscripts.
William Wire’s collection covers another
10 pages. Scattered throughout the
‘Manuscript’ section are a few printed
books, pamphlets, maps and
engravings. It has been the Society’s
policy for a great many years to deposit
(on recoverable loan) all its manuscript
material at the Essex Record Office and
most of this material will no longer be
found in the Society’s library.

On glancing through the slim volume, my
eye was caught by a number of
improbable titles, such as A Day’s
Elephant Hunting in Essex by Henry
Walker (undated) and A Scramble over
the Lake Mountains, New Zealand by
Samuel H. Moreton (1885). Some titles
tantalise, such as The Pen-man’s
Paradis of 1695, ‘with engraved plates
showing examples of handwriting and
flourishes’. There were also fragmentary
runs of some rather obscure journals
such as The lllustrated Science Monthly
of 1884, a few reports of the Russian
Archaeological Commission (printed in
Russian, and dating from 1890 to 1893)
and a single volume of the Quarterly
Journal of the Microscopical Society of
1854. Perhaps these titles were donated
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by members, rather than acquired by
deliberate purchase, and they may have
had a significance which is not now
apparent. It is not possible to check as
none of these titles are now to be found
in the Society’s collection at the
University of Essex. However, as A
Day’s Elephant Hunting in Essex was
originally published in the Transactions
of the Essex Field Club in 1881, the
pursuit was clearly for fossil bones rather
than their modern living descendants!

Much of the material listed consists of
journals, or reprints of articles which had
originally been published in journals.
There are relatively few books on Essex
archaeology, though — with a few
surprising exceptions — most of the
standard  topographical works are
present, including the county histories by
Norden, Salmon, Morant, Ogborne,
Wright and Suckling (but not Tindal’s or
The Gentleman’s History, or Coller’s
People’s History). There are a number of
local histories, such as Dale’s History of
Harwich, Palin’s two volumes on the
Stifford neighbourhood and Reeves’
account of Stondon Massey, but not
Cromwell’'s History of Colchester. The
most surprising absence is Newcourt’s
Repertorium. The rather random
collection of journals and book titles in
the catalogue, some of little apparent
relevance to Essex history and
archaeology, suggests that much of the
material had been donated, rather than
collected in an ordered and planned
manner, and this may account for the
absence of the Repertorium (unless it
was not at that time valued as a
reference book). it would be interesting
to know more about the history of the
formation of the Society’s library, and
whether there was a policy for
acquisitions, or a budget for doing so.

Michael Leach
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Source

Redstone, V B, 1923 Catalogue of Books,
Pamphlets, Periodicals, Manuscripts &
Scrap Collections in the Library of the Essex
Archaeological Society, Benham & Co.

Wall Paintings

As a member of the Library Committee
of the Essex Society for Archaeology
and History | have taken on a task, with
others, of sorting the contents of an
office at, what could be described as, the
headquarters of the organisation.

The ESAH has an interesting history of
its own. In years gone by its members
were elected. These ladies and
gentlemen  were  amateurs  and
professionals with a particular interest in
archaeology and the county’s history.
Little has changed regarding the
membership but now anyone can join.
The passing of time means that over the
many years the Society has not only
published thousands of pages of historic
interest through its own ‘Transactions’
but accumulated many publications left
by former members, probably upon their
demise. The office contains a treasure
trove of material which has quietly
languished there, some in need of
viewing by a wider audience through
transfer to archives such the Essex
Record Office, some which needs to be
retained, and another larger proportion
which needs to be sold or disposed. All
have gathered dust!

One ‘discovery’ was a scrapbook
compiled by an unidentified Victorian
member of the Society. It contains some
reports of Society Meetings (today called
‘Excursions’), text on some church
refurbishments and rebuilds, and,
principally,  cuttings  from  books
(Suckling, Buckler etc) and the
compiler's own sketches of Essex
churches.
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Essex churches were of particular
interest to this gentleman. The

scrapbook includes a drawing of a wall
painting in the church at Great Chishall,
(see front cover.

Randomly opening Volume XVII of the
Society’s “Transactions” (“New Series”),
| found another illustration of the same
image in the frontispiece with an article
by the Rev. G. Montagu Benton on ‘Wall
Paintings in Essex. |. Wall-paintings
formerly in the churches of Felsted and
Great Chishall’.

Benton mentions in his paper that at
Ingatestone a painting representing the
seven deadly sins was discovered during
the course of restoration in 1866. “In this
instance each sin was placed between
the spokes of a large wheel, 7 feet 2
inches in diameter, in the centre of which
was hell. After much perplexity the vicar
and the churchwardens of the time
decided to cover up this picture”. As a
youngster growing up in the parish
during the 1970s | remember the Rector
of the time — Canon Edward Hudson —
telling the story to us as schoolchildren.
An hour-glass holder of a later age — of
equal interest — covers its site on the
north wall by the pulpit.

Last October (2010) members of the .

local branch of the NADFAS held a
couple of meetings at St Edmund and St
Mary Church to explain some of the
things they had discovered during the
course of recording the interior of
Ingatestone Church. The present Rector
— Revd. Patrick Sheering — displayed a
framed drawing of the ‘Seven Deadly
Sins’ which had been given to him only
in the last two to three years. It is an
original made at the time of the 1866
restoration, and is accompanied by the
narrative which appeared in the Essex
Archaeological Society’s ‘Transactions’
Volume IV (“Old Series”). | was pleased
to go to the Essex Record Office and
find on its bookshelves a copy of the

10
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same, and the copy of the current

Rector’s acquisition beautiful
represented. :
The Great Chishall painting was

destroyed, according to Benton, but the
Ingatestone painting is preserved. If
hidden from view. At least the Rector
and the Society has copies and | hope
that one day it may be made available to
all to see on the Internet.

Andrew Smith

Book Reviews

John de Vere, Thirteenth Earl of
Oxynforde,  1442-1513 by Jane
Greatorex, Manors, Mills & Manuscripts
Series, 2010, ix & 136pp, numerous
illustrations, ISBN 9 7809518543 9 6,
available from www.essex-history.com at
£16.99.

John de Vere, thirteenth Earl of Oxford,
was the most powerful nobleman in early
Tudor Essex, and Jane Greatorex has
written a detailed account of his life,
based on a wide range of sources, and
making considerable use of quotations
from them in the text. During the Wars of
the Roses, the de Veres supported the
Lancastrians. John’s father .and elder
brother were executed for treason by
Edward IV in 1462, and, although the de
Vere lands were restored to the
thiteenth earl two years later, he
continued to plot on behalf of the
Lancastrians. After Edward IV’s victory
at the battle of Barnet in 1471, John was
captured at St Michael’s Mount in 1474,
attainted, forfeited his estates and was
imprisoned at Hammes castle. He
escaped ten years later, in time to join
Henry VIl and fight at the battle of
Bosworth . From that point, he played a
leading political role at court, and
enjoyed a wealthy lifestyle, as is
illustrated by. his household accounts.
His interests were not limited to politics.




Charity Number 213218

He restored his residence at Castle
Hedingham, and contributed to the
rebuilding of Lavenham church where
the de Vere arms can still be seen above
the porch. He may have been
responsible for building the Lady Chapel
at Colne priory, in 1513, and the
description of his elaborate funeral and
his will are included in the book. A
bibliography is provided for further
reading, although arrangement in
alphabetical order of author/editor would
have been helpful; Translations of the
Royal Historical Society should read
Transactions of the Royal Historical
Society.

Jennifer Ward

Bromley Boozers by John S Appleby,
self published 2010, 30pp, 16
illustrations, no ISBN, available from
John Appleby, Little Pitchbury, Brick Kiln
Lane, Great Horkesley, CO6 4EU

This slim booklet gives a one page
summary of the historic legislation
regulating beer houses, taverns and
inns, and then gives brief illustrated
summary descriptions of the public
houses of Great and Little Bromley,
many of which are now lost. Information
has been obtained from ale house
recognisances, census returns, church
rates, overseers records and other
sources which are not always identified.
There are brief notes on the origin of
some of the names, though the
significance of the “Sorrowing Child” and
the “Donkey and Buskins” remain
obscure. The census returns show a
significant turnover of publicans from
decade to decade, as well as the other
occupations of some of the licencees —
grocer, carpenter, tailor and blacksmith.
The final pages contain notes on
brewers who lived in, or owned property
in Great Bromley, and a paragraph on
the pub game of quoits, played with
heavy metal rings thrown at a target on
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the ground. This pamphlet will be a
useful pointer for anyone undertaking
research into their local hostelries, some
of which had a transitory existence and
left little archive evidence.

Michael Leach

Our Ancestors were Brickmakers and
Potters by Adrian Corder-Birch, 2010,
170pp, 150 photographs, ISBN 978-0-
9567219-0-7, £14.95

Our Ancestors were Brickmakers and
Potters is a very detailed and
meticulously researched history of the
Corder and other related families who
were engaged in the clay working
industries of brick, tile, drain pipe and
pottery making in the mid-north Essex
parishes of Bulmer, Castle and Sible
Hedingham, Gestingthorpe, Gosfield and
Great Yeldham, industries which
flourished in the area from the second
half of the eighteenth century until the
beginning of the Second World War.
Some buildings survive  which
incorporate the products made by these
families and their workers, but, today,
little remains of the work places where
the bricks, tiles, chimney-pots, drain-
pipes etc. were made. The hundred and
fifty photographs, maps and drawings
included in this book provide an
invaluable record of the brickworks and
the men who worked in them.

The introduction by Peter Minter, Master
Brickmaker of The Bulmer Brick and Tile
Co., Ltd.,, one of the two remaining
brickworks in the county, describes how
bricks were made by hand in Essex in
the past and are still being made in the
traditional way at his works in Bulmer.

A useful glossary explains many of the
technical terms that were used in the
clayworking industries in Essex. This
book is fully referenced and has a
comprehensive index.

Pat Ryan
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The Lost Tudor Hunting-Lodge at
Wormingford: The story of the
archaeological dig, Howard Brooks,
Andrew  White, Francis Nicholls,
published in 2010 by the Colchester
Archaeological Group with support from
Essex and Suffolk Water and the
Dedham Vale and Stour Valley Project,
ISBN 978-0-9503905-2-9, 24 pages,
numerous illustrations. Available in local
bookshops £5 or from
jmallin704@aol.com price £6 including
postage

This lavishly illustrated booklet tells the
story of the discovery of the Tudor
hunting-lodge at Lodge Hills,
Wormingford by ferreters digging out a
trapped ferret and its excavation. In
1561 Queen Elizabeth | visited the
Waldegrave family at Smallbridge Hall
on the opposite bank of the River Stour
in Suffolk and is thought to have been
entertained by a hunt at Lodge Hills.
Although the name of Lodge Hills is
shown on numerous tithe maps, it
referred to a wide area of high land on
the Essex side of the river overlooking
the Stour Valley, and the actual location
of the Lodge itself had been lost to
history.

The ferreters in the course of their
digging hit a brick foundation, which they
reported to the land-owner, who in turn
invited the Colchester Archaeological
Group to investigate. Initial
investigations confirmed the presence of
brickwork dating to the 16™ century,
raising the question as to whether the
lost lodge had been rediscovered.

The Colchester Archaeological Group
excavations on the site since late 2007
have revealed a number of structures
which forms part of the complex of
buildings which formed the Lodge. This
includes the hunting-lodge tower, a well
dating from the 16th century which
contained the bottom half of a
contemporary pumping mechanism, a
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brick box associated with a sluice
(probably the garderobe), the western
edge of a brick building which may have
been the main Lodge building, and a
brick foundation which may have
supported a ‘standing’ (viewing/shooting
platform) or a curtain wall.

The booklet contains a summary of the
historical research and the excavations
so far undertaken. These have largely
concentrated on tracing the walls and
drainage system. A summary of the
more interesting finds is also included.
Further work is needed on placing the
Lodge  within its  contemporary
landscape. The Heritage Lottery Funded
Managing a Masterpiece project will be
supporting this work in 2010/11.

Maria Medlycott

The Living Landscape. Animals in Parks
and Gardens of Essex. Essex Gardens
Trust Research Group. Editor Twigs
Way. Essex Gardens Trust. 2010. ISBN
978 0 9565198-0-1. 90 pages. £10.00
Nine members of the Essex Gardens
Trust have come together to produce an
anthology of ten essays on wide ranging
subjects related to gardens and
landscape. Topics range from
dovecotes to stables, bee boles to
aviaries, cattle to fishponds. Readers of
the Society’s own ‘Transactions’ will
recognise a familiar layout and style
presented in A4 format. Each
contribution demonstrates solid
research, and the whole has been
skilfully and harmoniously brought
together by the editor Twigs Way. Most
of the essays are generously illustrated,
some with colour plates, although others
are void of pictures.

In ‘Braxted Deer Park: From Larder to
Landscape’, Fiona Wells explores
through letters and leases the
management of deer at Great Braxted,
making references to the mending of
park pale.
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Michael Leach’s second contribution on
‘Rabbits in the Landscape’ discusses the
importance of rabbit husbandry in
mediaeval England and the keeping of
warrens, remarking that unlike today the
rabbit was not a pest. His first essay,
entitled ‘Many a Luce in Stewe: Medieval
Fishponds in Essex’ will appeal to both
the archaeologist as well as the garden
historian.

Sally-Ann Turner’s survey of the county’s
dovecotes in ‘A Duffus in the Grounds: A
Consideration of Some Essex
Dovecotes’ is nicely illustrated, provides
an interesting view of a former larder.
Twigs Way’s own paper, ‘Seen but not
Herd: Deer Parks in the Calendar of
Patent Rolls (1232 — 1432), and Charter
Rolls (1227 — 1516)’ covers the social
history, role and importance of parks,
park management, its legalities and
upkeep, including the location of
previously unknown sites.

The publication is dedicated to the late
Nancy Edwards (1929 - 2009), who
made a major contribution to the
research and understanding of the
county’s heritage, and was involved in
the project until her untimely death.
Andrew & Elaine Smith

Training Excavations

The West Essex Archaeological Group is
running both weekend and five day
training excavations this summer at the
Tudor mansion site of Copped Hall, near
Epping. The weekend dates are 16-17
July, 23-24 July, 30-31 July; and the five
day course dates are 8-12 August and
15-19 August. The cost is £50 for a
weekend and £90 for a week. Further
details can be obtained from Pauline
Dalton, Roseleigh, Epping Road, Epping
CM16 5HW, phone 01992 813725 or e-
mail pmd2@ukonline.co.uk .
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Bronze Age Hoard on
Dengie Peninsular

During the summer of 2010 a metal
detectorist found a number of bronze
objects in a field on the Dengie
Peninsular. With admirable responsibility
these were passed on to the Essex
Finds Liaison Officer who identified them
as parts of Bronze Age axes. Further
investigation of the area revealed more
fragments, including a spear head, a
gouge and some pieces of pottery. A
large pot was also found, about 0.4m
below ground level, and the metal
detector signals showed that there was a
significant mass of metal in or below the
vessel. Again, with commendable
responsibility, this was left in situ,
carefully covered over and discretely
marked. Strict confidentiality was
maintained while the next part of the
investigation was planned. In October
the site was excavated by a professional
team, and the pot (which was
surprisingly  heavy) was carefully
uncovered and lifted with a surrounding
block of soil for laboratory examination.
Wider investigation of the field showed
no evidence of an adjoining settlement,
suggesting that this was a hoard rather
than a collection of scrap metal from a
workshop. Closer examination of the pot
revealed that one side had been sheared
off (probably by plough damage) and X-
rays showed bronze objects protruding
from the top, with a dense mass of metal
packed inside. It was planned to
investigate  this under laboratory
conditions during the autumn. For
obvious reasons, the exact position of
the discovery has been kept secret.

Further analysis of the scattered bronze
objects that had been recovered showed
a range of items, including axe heads,
ingots, spear heads, scrap metal and a
gouge. It appeared that some of the axe
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heads had been deliberately broken
before burial, adding to the impression
that this was a ritual deposit, rather than
a collection of scrap, concealed for later
retrieval. Culturally these objects appear
to date from about 1000 BC, but
metaliurgical analysis may provide a
more precise date and provenance in
due course.

This may be the first Bronze Age hoard
to be found on the Dengie Peninsular.
One of the characteristics of such hoards
is that they contain a wide range of
different objects, but the reason for such
deposits remains obscure. They may
have served a sacrificial purpose, or
have been a way of maintaining the
value of other bronze objects that were
still in circulation, or a means of
symbolising the end of a relationship
between individuals or groups. Whatever
the reasons, the regular discovery of
such hoards in recent decades shows
that there was a substantial amount of
bronze in circulation.

Michael Leach

Source
www.finds.org.uk/blogs/essex/2010/10/2

5/bronze-age-hoard

The Road from Billericay to
Tilbury

‘Of all the cursed roads that ever
disgraced this kingdom in the very ages
of barbarism, none ever equalled that
from Billericay to the King’s Head at
Tilbury. It is for ten miles so narrow that
a mouse cannot pass by any carriage. |
saw a fellow creep under his wagon to
assist me to lift, if possible, my chaise
over a hedge. The ruts are of an
incredible depth, and a pavement of
diamonds might as well be sought for as
a quarter. The trees everywhere
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overgrow the road, so that it is totally
impervious to the sun, except at a few
places. And to add to the infamous
circumstances that continually occur to
plague a traveller, | must not forget the
eternally meeting with chalk wagons,
themselves frequently stuck fast till a
collection of them are in the same
situation, and twenty or thirty horses may
be tacked to each other to draw them out
one by one. After this description will
you, can you, believe me that | tell you
that a turnpike was much solicited for by
some gentlemen to lead from
Chelmsford to the fort at Tilbury Fort, but
opposed by the bruins of this country,
whose horses are torn to pieces with
bringing chalk through these vile roads;
and yet in this tract are found farmers
who cultivate above a thousand pounds
a year, but are perfectly contented with
their roads.’

Thus wrote Arthur Young in 1768 in his
Six Week Tour through the Southern
Counties of England and Wales.. This
road, altered and diverted beyond
recognition, is in part now the B1007,
which has been considerably modified to
the west of Basildon. Its route south of
Horndon-on-the-Hill is difficult to trace as
the B1007 has been diverted to the east,
and the dual carriageway of the A13 has
obliterated some of the twists and turns
of the old road running to the south.
However a two mile un-metalled section
further south running down to Mill House
seems to be the route of Young’s
‘infamous road’, and would be worth
exploration.

Michael Leach

Sources

Arthur Young’s account quoted in Palin,
W, 1871 Stifford and its Neighbourhood
Chapman and Andre map of Essex,
1777
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The Castle Hedingham
Wheel Window

According to a contributor to the Kent
Archaeological Society newsletter, there
are only three surviving C12 wheel
windows set in chancel gables in
England — two in Kent (Barfreston and
Patrixbourne) and one in Essex at Castle
Hedingham. The writer observes that the
window at Castle Hedingham church
was inserted at a later date, having
originally been placed in the castle,
though she does not indicate her source
for this statement and neither the Essex
RCHM or James Bettley confirm this.
The article is principally concerned with
the wheel windows at Barfreston and
Patrixbourne which are almost identical,
raising the question of whether they
were originally two of a pair. There is
some evidence in the fabric that both
may have been re-cycled from
elsewhere, possibly in the C15 or later,
but unfortunately both churches were
heavily restored in the C19, and the
evidence in each is equivocal. The
Castle Hedingham window, though of
similar date and in eight sections, is said
to have foliated capitals on the spokes
rather than the grotesques found in the
Kent examples. However close
comparison with the twins in Kent would
be interesting, as well as well as
confirmation (or otherwise) that the
Castle Hedingham window was originally
sited elsewhere.

Rickman confirmed the rarity of surviving
wheel windows; he mentioned the
Barfreston example, and illustrated a six-
spoked one at Peterborough Cathedral
dated to ¢.1220, and a ten-spoked one
at Christ Church Cathedral, Oxford.
There also appears to be a ten-spoked
example at Beverley Minster. None of
these have the grotesque heads of the
two Kent wheel windows.
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Further information about the suggested
later insertion of the wheel window at
Castle Hedingham church would be
greatly appreciated. If it is true that it was
a relocated, the most likely source would
be the nearby castle chapel which lay
immediately south of the surviving keep.
It is not known exactly when the chapel
was demolished but may have been
taken down when the new mansion was
built in the early C18. The building could
have been derelict and used as a source
of building materials for some time
before this, though equally the account
of the removal of the wheel window and
its installation in the parish church could
be a local tradition not supported by any
firm historical or structural evidence.

Michael Leach

Source

Kent Archaeological Society Newsletter,
no: 87, Winter 2010/11

Rickman, T, 1881 Gothic Architecture,
Parker & Co.

RCHM Essex, i, 1916, 57-8

The Programme and
Excursions Secretaries

The Society’s programme is one of the
benefits of membership. It comprises a
variety of talks, meetings and visits, the
latter mostly to places not normally open
to the public. The substance of the
programme is identified by the
Programme Committee, and then the
Programme Secretary works out the
detail and ties it all together. Since
2003, that job has been done by Ann
Newman, assisted by her husband Ken
in what has been a team enterprise.
Building on the work of the previous
secretary, John Walker, Ann has made a
great success of the programme, which
has maintained a high standard of
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interesting fixtures, exceedingly well
organised, with events mostly booked
out. Now, however, after eight years,
Ann has decided, quite reasonably, that
she would like a break. So has Pat
Ryan, who as Excursions Secretary, is
the other half of the organisation,
handling inquiries, and taking bookings
and money. Pat has served for an even
longer period of time, and has done a
sterling job, providing support in this way
as the main point of contact with the
membership.

As chair of the Programme Committee
for longer than | should have been, | am
very sorry about this, as Ann, Ken and
Pat have been a delight to work with,
and they have brought an energy and
resourcefulness to the task which has
meant that it has all run very smoothly
and been great fun. |, and the
membership, are very grateful to them,
and indeed to all those who serve on the
Programme Committee.

As well as expressing our thanks, we are
of course appealing for volunteers to
take on the jobs of Programme and
Excursion Secretaries from September
2011. It involves two committee
meetings a year (meetings which it
should be emphasised are usually very
enjoyable); sorting out the arrangements
for the visits and meetings usually
between February and September; and
at the end of the year getting the
programme card printed in time to go out
at the beginning of the following year.

Would anyone interested in these roles,
or wanting to know more about them,
please contact me, or Ann or Pat for
more detail on what is involved.

David Andrews
d.d.andrews @talk21.com
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Saturday 18th June — AGM at Essex
University, at 2.00 pm. in the Lakeside
Theatre. Afterwards there will be an
opportunity to visit the Albert Sloman
Library which houses the Society’s
library. Members of the library staff will
be at hand to answer questions. Our
thanks to Nigel Cochrane for his help in
organising this event and the generous
hospitality of the University.

Saturday 24th July - visit to Foulness,
meet at 2pm at Landwick Guard Lodge,
Great Wakering, where we will be met by
members of the Foulness Society and
then drive the 5 miles to the Foulness
Heritage Centre. The tour of Foulness
will be by tractor & trailer. Cost £14 to
include tea. Maximum 30. Bookings

with payment and car registration
number MUST reach Pat Ryan by Friday
8th July at the latest. Only people (and
cars) registered well in advance of the
visit date will be allowed on to the island.
Saturday 20th August - visit to
Saffron Walden, where we shall have a
conducted tour of 25-27 Church Street
(part of the old Sun Inn) led by Douglas
Kent of SPAB, and also have the
opportunity to visit the town Museum.
Cost £6 to include tea in St Mary’s
Parish Rooms, Church Path, Saffron
Walden. We shall be in two groups,
assembly point details will be provided
with the location map and instructions.
Maximum 30.

Saturday 24th September - all day
visit to Harwich led by members of
Harwich Society Guide Panel. Cost £6
to include tea, please make your own
arrangements for lunch. Meet at 11.00
am at the Electric Palace.

Sunday 16th October - the Morant
Lunch at The Warren Golf Club,
Woodham Walter. 12.30 for 1.00 pm.
Cost £25. After dinner speaker Pat
Ryan. Bookings with payment to Pat
Ryan by 16th September please.
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From The President

The Society’s visit to the Albert Sloman
Library at the University of Essex,
following our Annual General Meeting in
the Lakeside Theatre on Saturday, 18th
June, 2011, was not only extremely
informative for those who attended, but it
also served to remind us all of the
significant benefits which members can
enjoy from access to the Society’s own
library collection in its current location at
Wivenhoe Park. There is no time like the
present for all of us to ask ourselves how
much we know about this major asset
and whether we could make more use of
it.

Sincere thanks go to our member Nigel
Cochrane, the University's Deputy
Librarian, and to his colleague Emma
Wisher for guiding us in two groups
around the Albert Sloman Library, which
as befitted that time of the academic
year was enjoying almost whisperless
calm after the end of the busy summer
term. This air of serenity enabled us to
appreciate much more fully how very
fortunate members of the Society are to
be able to enjoy not just our own
archaeological and historical holdings
but all the rest that this great university
library has to offer as well.

Next year will see the 160th anniversary
of the Society’s inauguration and over
the past years a collection of some
15,000 volumes has been carefully
amassed for members to use. Several
hundred periodicals and newsletters
continue to be maintained, many by
exchange with other like-minded
societies, and there is also our collection
of 600 rare books on long-term deposit.
For most of its existence the Society’s
library was closely associated with
Colchester's Museum Service - at first in
the Castle Museum, where from 1860
the collections of both Society and Town
(now Borough) Council have been
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displayed. These were permanently
amalgamated into one collection with a
single accession book in 1926, by formal
agreement, when the name ‘Colchester
and Essex Museum’ was adopted in
recognition of the two bodies. Our
representatives continued to serve on
the Borough Council's museum
committee until the effects of municipal
restructuring took precedence some 20
years ago.

It had been a primary objective of the
Society from its inception to establish its
own museum at Colchester, but almost
inevitably there were fundraising
problems although the desired goal was
in due course achieved in large part as a
result of the remarkable generosity of the
Society's Honorary Treasurer, Charles
Gray Round, who owned the Castle. For
its part the other major participant,
Colchester Town Council, helped
guarantee the scheme’s success by
undertaking to make a financial
contribution towards the salary of a
Museum Curator as well as to general
running costs.

Such were the early beginnings of a now
substantial Museum Service in whose
foundation and management
distinguished members of our Society
played such an important part. Through
the years changing circumstances have
led to the introduction of different ways
of running it. Just 4 years ago a
particularly innovative approach was
adopted with the establishment of the
dual-funded Colchester and Ipswich
Museum Service.

The Castle Museum itself and its
outstanding archaeological collections
are currently the subject of an
application for Heritage Lottery Funding
towards a major re-development project
costing some £4.3 M. If all goes to plan,
in early 2013 the Castle’s interior walls
will be fully revealed for the first time
since 1935 before structural works begin
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and the new displays are created. The
latter are being designed to integrate
more broadly with the town’s historic
context and to provide a link to the
interpretation of other notable attractions
such as the Town Walls, the Roman
Circus (with which the Colchester
Archaeological Trust is closely involved),
St. Botolph’s Priory and St. John's
Abbey.

Last year the 150th anniversary of the
Castle Museum’s opening to the public
was celebrated exactly to the day — on
27th September 2010 — with a special
Open Evening held for the Friends of
Colchester Museum, of which | am
currently Chairman. Happy to relate, my
predecessor as President, Martin
Stuchfield, whose various major
achievements in that office have been
rightly acclaimed, was able to attend by
personal invitation to represent the
Society’s special connection.

Returning to the Society’s Library, | am
sure that many members, like myself,
used to find it very convenient to be able
to make short or long visits according to
need when it was based at Hollytrees. It
had been moved there when the
museum was opened in 1929. As it so
happens, this was originally intended just
as a temporary home until a more
permanent solution could be found, but
the arrangement lasted for some 70
years. During that time various changes
occurred, like moving to rooms on the
top floor formerly occupied by H.W.
Poulter until his death in 1963.

However, what with the museum’s need
for further accommodation added to the
Society’s concerns about its library, a
major re-appraisal in due course became
inevitable. A new era then dawned in
2000 when the Society’s holdings were
placed on permanent deposit at the
Albert Sloman Library. The fruits of this
decision are now available for all to see
as they clearly seem to be proving
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beneficial to all concerned.

It was very pleasing to learn that our
library is being put to good use by
members of the University staff and
bona-fide researchers. However, more
could be made of it by our own
members, some of whom may not be
fully aware of what there is on offer,
while others perhaps feel that they still
only need to make short visits which
would now take longer than before.

My own personal view is that the
circumstances relating to our library
have now changed so much more for the
better that anyone who does not make
use of it, at least to some extent, is really
missing a great deal. The ESAH
Collection, which incidentally forms the
largest deposit at the Albert Sloman
Library, is now professionally
administered and cared for as a valued
element of a major University Library.
Apart from some pamphlets and leaflets,
the whole collection has recently been
digitally catalogued in a form that can
easily be accessed either through the
Society’s own website or directly on the
University Library’'s website. Members
are thus not only able to apprise
themselves of all the books and services
that are available to them, but they can
also save time by planning a visit to the
Library in the comfort of their own
homes.

Another major advantage is that a
reader’s ticket also permits access to
books in the main University Library,
which has a particularly strong history
section, and full borrowing rights to this
apply. Although the Society’'s books are
for the moment currently divided
between two locations on different floors,
those who feel unable to descend to the
ground-floor room can ask for books to
be brought up to the Special Collections
Consultation Area.

On a final note, despite current
government spending cuts affecting
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Universities, it is very encouraging to
know that the proposed capital scheme
for building an extension to the Albert
Sloman Library at a cost of about £14 M
is proceeding. It is programmed for
completion in Autumn 2013 and will
result in the Society’s Library collection
being re-united for consultation in new
accommodation on the first floor. All in
all, | feel that we are extremely fortunate
as a society with the library facilities
available to us and | hope that members
will agree by making the most use of
them that they can.

G. Mark R. Davies
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Advisory Committee for
Archaeology

The Buildings of England —
Essex

James Bettley’s revision of the Pevsner
Architectural Guide to Essex, published
by Yale University Press in 2007, was
reprinted with corrections in 2010, and
any copies now purchased should be the
corrected reprint (this is noted on the
verso of the title page; the ISBN number
remains the same, 978 0 300 11614 4).
However, the demands of modern
publishing are such that, for the most
part, only  ‘character-for-character’
corrections can be made (e.g. of dates),
although it has been possible to slip in
the occasional ‘dem.’” in the case of
buildings that have been demolished.
James has however been keeping a list
of Addenda & Corrigenda, which
contains more material than it was
possible to include in the corrected
reprint. This includes not just corrections,
but also new information that has come
to light since 2007. He is happy to e-mail
this as a Word attachment to anyone
requesting it by e-mail to
jamesbettley@btinternet.com

The Advisory Committee met on 3
occasions in the year with County
Councillors, archaeologists, museum
curators and representatives  of
Archaeology Societies in attendance. A
visit was made to Coalhouse Fort, East
Tilbury, where the ongoing restoration
work by volunteers of the 19th and 20th
century defences of this stretch of the
River Thames including cannon, anti-
aircraft guns, mine-laying equipment and
watch-towers were inspected.

Research  bringing together past
excavations of Great Chesterford and of
the Air-photography Project detecting
archaeological sites in Essex have been
published in East Anglian Archaeology
(volumes 137 and 136 respectively). A
travelling exhibition of Essex’s Industrial
Heritage was circulating round the
county. Manuden schoolchildren have
taken part in a 1-metre test-pit survey
organised by Cambridge University.

With Essex County Council due to
become a commissioning-only
organisation in 2011/12 there was
uncertainty about future arrangements
for staffing and what services would be
commissioned. It was likely that the
Archaeological Field Unit would become
part of a larger organisation. Funding for
archaeological projects from the
government’'s Gravel Extraction Levy
has now ceased.

Field-study and archaeological
excavation courses were now being
offered at Copped Hall, Epping, where
Tudor and later remains were being
examined. The new Heritage Centre at
Saffron Walden which has reached an
advanced stage of planning had again
been put on hold due to delays and loss
of funding. A hoard of socket axes found
at Littlebury Iron Age fort has been
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deposited in Saffron Walden museum.
Colchester Museum had bid for a grant
to update its displays.

A Visitors’ Centre/Education Room was
being built at Prittlewell Priory
(Southend) and a new archaeological
store was now open. At The Garrison
site Colchester, a new Iron Age dyke,
3rd century coin hoard and a warrior
burial have been found. The east end of
St John’s Abbey church has been
identified by ground-penetrating radar at
Colchester. A Roman settlement has
been found at Havengore (Foulness).
Work to the extension of Southend
Airport has revealed Bronze Age ditches
and post-holes. At Bowers Marsh
(Pitsea) heaths and dwellings of 1st-4th
century have been excavated near to
salt-production sites. The Lexden Union
Workhouse built in 1836 was recorded
prior to residential conversion. World
War |l defences were being collated at
Harwich and along the Stour estuary. A
camp which housed children of the
Kinder transport in 1939 and
subsequently German POW’s has been
identified.

James Kemble.

2011 Morant lecture

This was held on 19 March and Helen
Walker, of Essex County Council’s Field
Archaeology Unit, spoke on the Harlow
pottery industry. She was the co-author
of a monograph published by the
Medieval Pottery Research Group, in
collaboration with English Heritage,
Harlow Museum and the Field
Archaeology Unit. Her fellow author, a
former pottery teacher in Harlow, had
spent many years studying this local
industry, and had brought his knowledge
and experience as a craftsman to this
archaeological study.
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The industry, centred on Potter Street,
was revealed in the building of Harlow
New. Town in the 1950s and 1960s.
Much of the surrounding area is boulder
clay, unsuitable for making pottery, but
London clay is exposed in the Harlow
Common area. Sand, used by medieval
potters to improve the workability of clay,
is found just to the north, and there was
a supply of water as well as fuel from the
adjoining coppiced woodland. Bracken,
which provides a hot, clean, flame was
also used. Other factors which favoured
the development of a local pottery
industry were favourable manorial rents,
and sales outlets through local fairs
(Bush Fair being the nearest). The
Harlow medieval wares had only local
distribution, as transport further afield
would have been difficult. Though the
River Stort is nearby, this was not
navigable in the medieval period due to
the numerous mills along its course. No
medieval kilns have been found in
Harlow, but chemical analysis of
medieval sherds shows an identical
composition to the post medieval
material known to be associated with the
Harlow kilns, so there is no doubt that
there was local industry, albeit on quite a
small scale.

There is plenty of archival evidence for
the presence of several families of
potters in the area from the early C17
onwards, and the indications are that
they had strong protestant or puritan
beliefs. Unfortunately, though several
post medieval kilns have been
excavated, only one has been properly
recorded. This was typical of
contemporary pottery kilns, consisting of
a sunk oval fire pit with stoke holes at
each end, channels to drain out water
which would have accumulated between
firings, and a raised clay pedestal on
which the pots were stacked for firing. A
variety of pots were made. There was
red urban ware for cooking vessels for
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kitchen use, and mugs and jugs of
various sizes in black glazed ware,
providing a cheap imitation of pewter.
The black glaze was achieved by adding
copper and firing under low oxygen
conditions. A local speciality, not found
elsewhere, was a mug with two closely
spaced handles. The purpose of this
arrangement is not known; in practice
they are hard for a man to hold and,
when full, need to be stabilised by the
other hand clasping the opposite side of
the mug. They might have been more
suitable for the smaller hands of women,
whose fingers would have been able to
slip through the handles.

The most striking product of the Harlow
potteries was ‘metropolitan slipware’, so
called because large amounts of it have
been uncovered in London. This was
lead glazed to produce a golden-brown
background for the slip decoration. Flat
dishes were very popular, presumably
for display on shelves and dressers
rather than for practical use, and the
earliest known specimen has the date
1630’ incorporated into its decoration. It
is only possible to achieve simple
designs with slip trailing, and most
dishes were divided into four patterned
quadrants with a central motif and a
decorative edge. Some had inscriptions
in slip, with loyal sentiments such as
‘Honour the King’, or pious ones such as
‘Fast and pray and pity the poor, amend
thy life and sin no more’. Other
decorations included the fleur-de-lis
(possibly of heraldic or religious
significance), and the endless knot which
may have been a fertility symbol or a
defence against witchcraft. Decorations
may have been taken from copy books,
and it was pointed out in the subsequent
discussion that the lattice-and-dot
decoration (often found on slip ware, and
believed to be a fly deterrent) is also
common on decorated daub on the
exterior of local buildings. Another
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interesting  find on Harlow pottery is
small batch tags, about an inch across,
bearing an initial (presumably that of the
potter) and a number (presumably
indicating the batch) — an early form of
quality control. Unfortunately it has not
been possible to link any of these tags
with known potters.

The origins of the Harlow slipware are
obscure, but there are similarities with
Dutch slipware, and a Dutch surname
occurs amongst the late C16 Harlow
potters. It may therefore have been
introduced by immigrant workers, but
could equally have  developed
independently, perhaps from the slip
decoration of medieval floor tiles.

The industry expanded considerably in
the first half of the C17, probably as a
result of increasing affluence as well as
an improved road from Harlow to
London. Its slow decline after the
Restoration was probably due to a
combination of factors. Tin glaze and
stoneware (for which the Harlow clay is
not suitable) became increasingly
fashionable, and the manufacture of
earthenware moved north to places like
Stoke where coal provided a superior
fuel for firing kilns. The slipware industry
lingered on in Harlow till the end of the
C18, but only had local distribution by
then, and was of a much inferior quality.
It is surprising that identical slipware has
been found on the western seaboard of
the USA and also in Jamaica. It is not
yet known if this was imported from

" Harlow, or represents the work of

emigrant potters who took the local
technique with them. This question can
only be resolved by a chemical analysis
of the fabric of the New World pots,
though there are no immediate plans to
do this.

Michael Leach
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Successful Stondon Byrd
Festival Gains International
Reputation

Early music lovers from far and wide
flocked to hear the music of William Byrd
at Stondon Massey Church over two
weekends in May. William Byrd lived in
the village until his death in 1623.

A ‘William Byrd Festival’ was organised
by the congregation of St Peter & St
Paul Church in order to raise money to
build a new Garden of Remembrance in
the churchyard where Byrd is thought to
have been buried in an unmarked grave.
The Festival not only realised £2200 but
also raised the profile of the man who
ought to be as well-known as his
contemporary, William Shakespeare. To
use a pun, the Festival killed two birds
with one stone.

William Byrd was a recusant Catholic,
refusing to attend the Church of England
at a time when staying away from
Services was illegal. He, with other
‘papists’, was frequently named before
the Archdeaconry Court and fined huge
sums of money. Byrd wrote music for
the Catholic faith, which was banned, but
was spared punishment because he had
friends in high places. He was a
Gentleman of the Chapel Royal, the
monarch’s personal choir, and his music
was liked by Queen Elizabeth | and her
successor King James |. The Petre
family of Ingatestone Hall were his
Patrons, and it was to John Petre that
Byrd dedicated his second book of Latin
Catholic church music in 1607. He was
both loyal and yet a traitor.

Leading the cast on the first Saturday of
the Festival was Richard Turbet, from
the University of Aberdeen, an expert on
the life and work of Byrd. He led a
lecture / recital entitled “William Byrd: His
Essex Years” which explored the
composer’s musical output while living in
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Stondon Massey. He was supported by
the Stondon Singers under their
conductor Christopher Tinker.

The event was held twice. The present
Lord Petre attended the matinee
performance.

A traditional Morning Prayer service was
held the following morning with music by
Byrd played on the organ by John Hatt
and an anthem sung by the church
music group, Jubilate.

The second weekend’s events were led
by a Saturday concert by the Writtle
Singers, under Christine Gwynn, making
their debut performance at St Peter & St
Paul Church.  Their programme -
‘William Byrd: Loyal Heart or Traitor?’ -
explored Byrd's life as a recusant
Catholic and the protest songs he
secretly composed.

The Festival concluded on the Sunday
with a service of Favourite Hymns,
reflecting Byrd's wish that ‘every man
should learne to sing’.

The event has put William Byrd on the
map as far as the church is concerned.
During the second week one of the
congregation visited the church in order
to set up the space for a choir rehearsal
to find affixed to the door a bunch of
flowers with a request to place them on
the grave of the ‘English composer’. The
flowers were sent by well-wishers from
‘Tom Garrison and the Trinity Choir’
which following a little Internet research
turned out to be the Episcopal Cathedral
in Kansas City. It was decided to
arrange the flowers on the Memorial
Tablet to the great composer inside the
church. The Festival website
(www.williambyrdfestival.blogspot.com),
which remains open, shows that William
Byrd is very popular in America with over
a third of the hits coming from that
country.

Members of the congregation received
some lovely comments and have been
encouraged to make more of William
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Byrd’s name in Essex. As Revd Edward
Reeve, Rector of Stondon Massey wrote
a century ago: “We can claim Byrd for
our own”.

Two books are available at the church
priced £2 each. ‘William Byrd: Some
Notes’, and a biography of Reeve
himself.

Andrew Smith

Victorian Scrapbook
Author Identified

In the last edition of ESAH News | wrote
about the pleasurable task of sorting
through a number of books which have
languished in the office at Hollytrees for
some years and the discovery of a
scrapbook “compiled by an unidentified
Victorian member of the Society” using
the initials CKP.

Michael Leach and James Bettley have
advised me that CKP is C.K. Probert of
Newport (1820-1887). Probert was an
early member of the Society, an
antiquary and collector. The Society's
printed library catalogue of 1923 lists MS
items described as the Probert
Collection (‘Chas K Probert, Newport,
Essex Nov 24 1883 written on the inner
cover'). These were rough notes about
48 churches (the few listed in the
catalogue were all in NW Essex, but Gt
Chrishall is not mentioned). The
catalogue indicates that they formed the
basis of 12 MS volumes which were
bequeathed to the British Museum in
1889. His papers may be consulted at
the British Library and College of Arms
(http://www.nationaIarchives.gov.uk/nra/searches/
subjectView.asp?ID=P23530).

James Bettley has looked at the
scrapbook in more detail. It dates from
the second half of the 1850s through to
1885, and begins by concentrating on
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parishes in the north west of the county.
Of particular interest are the sketches of
churches made before the Victorian
restorers appeared on the scene. For
example, Bobbingworth shows the
timber bell tower prior to restoration in
1841, and St Mary’s, High Ongar with a
belfry and tall and slender spire before
much rebuilding in 1858.

James Bettley adds: “Apart from the
Suckling/Buckler cuttings, | thought it the
single most useful source on 19th
century church restoration in Essex that |
have come across — the sketches and
photos of churches before they were
restored provide very valuable evidence.
| was surprised to find, when | compared
some of the photos of Radwinter that the
very photos in the scrapbook were used
to illustrate A Deuce of an Uproar, where
they are credited to Probert — so
someone knew of this resource and
used it in the 1980s”.

Andrew Smith

With acknowledgement to Michael Leach
& James Bettley

Bibliography:

Pevsner / Bettley: The Buildings of
England. Essex (Yale, 2007)

Church Fonts drawn by
William Harvey Pridham,
1886-c.1908

| am preparing a book for the Somerset
Archaeological and Natural History
Society on the church fonts in the county
of Somerset drawn and recorded by
Harvey, or William Harvey Pridham. He
was born at Ramsden Crays in 1863 the
son of the Revd George Pridham. In his
notes he recorded that he also worked
on recording fonts in Berkshire, Bristol,
Dorset, Essex, Gloucestershire,
Hampshire, Middlesex, Monmouthshire,
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Oxfordshire, Surrey, Sussex and
Wiltshire. The collections for Wiltshire
and Berkshire have been located but
does anyone know of the whereabouts
of the drawings and description of fonts
relating to the other counties prepared
by Pridham? He may not have recorded
every font in every county, but any
information is very welcome on his work,
especially details of his death.

Dr Adrian Webb 19 Kirke Grove,

Taunton, Somerset, TA2 8SB
aj.webb@virgin.net

[Editorial note: Pridham’s only known
drawing of an Essex font is amongst his
drawings of Wiltshire and Berkshire fonts
held by the University of Colorado at
Boulder, and shows the one at East
Tilbury church. This is a plain late
medieval font, so it is unlikely that it was
recorded because it was an unusual
example. Was Pridham attempting to
make a comprehensive record?]
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built as a district nurses’ home in 1939
by Vincent Harris, yet another example
of W J Courtauld’s beneficence to the
town. This building has statuary and
lettering by Eric Gill, and was intended to
“improve the appearance to Braintree
from London”.

Michael Leach
Source:

Ancient Monuments Society Newsletter
Winter 2011

ESAH Transactions, Third
Series, Vols 1 to 30

Essex seen from elsewhere

The Friends of Friendless Churches
have been friends indeed to Mundon
church where (as previously reported)
the chancel has undergone a heroic
rescue from severe subsidence. The
final round of repairs will attend to the
nave and the work was started in
February, at an estimated cost of
£54,000. The chancel wall painting is
illustrated on the front cover of the AMS
Newsletter.

By the time this newsletter is published,
English Heritage's nation-wide
searchable database of listed buildings,
scheduled monuments, registered parks
and gardens, registered battlefields and
protected wreck sites, should be
available on www.english-heritage.org.uk. One
new addition to the listed buildings will
be Leahurst in Braintree High Street,

A complete run of these has been
returned to us by our indexer. They are
mostly in good condition (one of the
early volumes is partly disbound but
complete) and, though every page has
multiple markings in pencil and red biro,
the text is perfectly readable. These are
offered at an unrepeatable bargain price
of £75. Delivery may be possible in
Essex, otherwise there would be an
additional cost.

Anyone interested should contact
Michael Leach, 01277 363106 or
leach1939@yahoo.co.uk

Visit to Rainham Church
and Hall

Members ventured into metropolitan
Essex on 16 April 2011 to visit Rainham.
Though hemmed in by the uncertain
delights of the A13, industrial estates, a
vast Tesco superstore and HS1 on its
way to St Pancras, it retains the strong
feel of a small country town. We met in
the remarkably complete late C12
church and were given a very
informative introduction to the town,
established on the east bank of the
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Ingrebourne river which was fordable at
this point. Just to the south, the Thames
itself may also have been fordable in
earlier times, and there was an important
ferry crossing here from the early Middle
Ages until its abandonment in the late
C19. Thus the town was on the crossing
of important east/west and north/south
routes, on land slightly raised above the
marshes to the south which provided rich
grazing for sheep. Salmon, commenting
on the town’s supposed vulnerability to
Danish raids, darkly noted ‘the Graziers
will say ‘tis a Place of Rapine now,
where their Sheep are killed to steal their
Tallow.’” By this date the Ingrebourne had
been dredged and made navigable up to
Rainham, and a profitable trade in
shipping goods had been established.
The church itself is late Norman, with the
use of waterleaf capitals and mid-shaft
bands on the nave pier columns, and
was probably built about 1170. The
advowson was donated to Lesnes Abbey
which was founded by Richard de Lucy
in 1178. Though various local historians
have suggested that de Lucy built
Rainham church, there seems to be no
supporting evidence for this.
Nevertheless the church as built was
certainly a building of significant status,
with both north and south aisles and a
substantial tower. Even Morant, who
rarely commented on church
architecture, described that the dogtooth
decoration on the Norman chancel arch
as ‘indented or curiously wreathed'.
Apart from some later medieval
windows, and the insertion of two blind
arches (possibly for an altar) in the NE
corner of the nave, few change